
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Cabinet Advisory 
Panel B

A meeting of the above Panel will be held on 

Monday 22 May 2017

Cabinet
A meeting of the above will be held on 

Thursday 25 May 2017

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
(Chairman)

Councillor C J Shippam 
(Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE

Councillor P F Coleman Councillor K M Kelly Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

Both meetings will be held at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Councillor I D Armitt (Chairman) Councillor E J Lampkin
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman) Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor A Bardoe Councillor C S McLean
Councillor J Burrell Councillor D J Mote
Councillor R M Currans Councillor D Page
Councillor D A Hammock Councillor R S L Perfitt
Councillor J A Hayes Councillor A Sandhu, MBE
Councillor S R Jarnell Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor J Jones Councillor R J Wells
Councillor P Kelly



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET ADVISORY PANEL B 
Monday 22 May 2017

CABINET
Thursday 25 May 2017

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 13 April 2017 
(Pages 1 - 4)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. To receive the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 22 
May 2017 
To follow 

6. References from Committees 
None at this stage. 

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations

7. Response to Consultation on Proposals Regarding the Penalties 
for Environmental Offences (Pages 5 - 14)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. This report brings to Members’ attention the Department for 
Environment,   Food and Rural Affairs proposals to:

 Increase the levels for section 88 fixed penalties in the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 for littering and other 
environmental offences;

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/contents


 Change the provision for how councils can use the income 
from fixed penalties for environmental offences; and 

 Remove the requirement for parish council enforcement 
officers to attend a specified training course.

2. This report summarises the proposals in the consultation 
paper and sets out the Council’s suggested response to the 
consultation.  

Recommendation:

That Cabinet approves, or amends, the proposed response to 
the consultation, as set out in Appendix A to the report. 

8. Consultation on Application to Vary Condition 3 on the Outline 
Planning Permission at Eastern Quarry to allow a Change to the 
Parameter Plans and the Land Use Disposition (Pages 15 - 36)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. This is a Key Decision as it is significant in terms of its effects 
on communities living or working in an area of the Borough 
comprising two or more wards.

2. This report is responding to the consultation by the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation on a planning application to vary 
condition 3 on the Eastern Quarry Outline Planning Permission 
in order to amend the disposition of land uses in the site to 
create a different layout to the development. The report 
addresses the key issues from the proposals that impact on 
the delivery of the objectives and policies of the adopted Local 
Plan.

Recommendations:

1. That, for the following reasons, the Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation be advised that the Council:

1. considers that the Section 73 application would result in a 
development substantially different from the one approved 
under outline planning permission 03/01134/OUT as 
amended by 12/01451/EQVAR and that a fresh planning 
application should be submitted to allow consideration of 
the impacts of the proposal in a comprehensive manner;

2. objects to the proposed changes and considers that they 
are contrary to the adopted Local Plan for the reasons set 
out in the report and requests that the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation refuses to grant the section 73 
permission;

3. has significant concerns about the proposal to vary the 



current s106 and to require a new s106 to cover two 
different landownerships and two different mixed use 
developments.

2. That in order to ensure the requirements of the Local Plan are 
met, Officers engage with the Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation with regard to changes to the strategies, the 
amendments to the Section 106 agreement, the conditions and 
the detail of the submission of the Habitats Regulation 
Assessment. 

9. Rail Consultations and Future Infrastructure (Pages 37 - 56) SD (ES)
Summary:

This report is produced in response to two related public 
consultations (Kent Area Route Study by Network Rail and 
South Eastern Rail Franchise by the Department for 
Transport) on the train network and rail services in the 
Borough. 

Recommendations:

1. That the Council’s response to the Kent Area Route Study by 
Network Rail, as set out in the Appendix A to the report, be 
endorsed.

2. That the Council’s response to the South Eastern Rail 
Franchise by the Department for Transport, as set out in the 
Appendix B to the report, be endorsed.

3. That progress with partners in exploring a potential Crossrail 
extension east of Abbey Wood set out in paragraphs 3.7-3.9 of 
the report, be noted. 

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports

No items for consideration.

C - Items for Information, Noting, Endorsing

10. Corporate Plan - Performance Indicators (Pages 57 - 70) SD (IS)
Summary:

This report provides the latest set of Corporate Plan 
performance indicators for quarter 4 of 2016-17.



Recommendation:

That Members note the contents of the Performance Indicators 
Monitoring Report attached at Appendix A. 

11. Minutes of the Policy Overview Meeting held on 21 March 2017 
(Pages 71 - 84)

SD (IS)

Summary:

To present to Cabinet the minutes of the meeting of the Policy 
Overview Committee held on 21 March 2017.

Recommendation:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview 
Committee held on 21 March 2017, be considered and noted. 



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 13 April 2017 at 7.30 pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor A R Lloyd

132. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors K M Kelly and Mrs P A 
Thurlow.

133. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

134. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 9 
MARCH 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 9 March 2017 be confirmed.

135. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

136. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 10 APRIL 2017 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 10 
April 2017 and took note of the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.

137. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.

138. CONSULTATION ON THE HOUSING WHITE PAPER "FIXING OUR 
BROKEN HOUSING MARKET" 

This report presented, for approval, the Council’s proposed response to the 
Government’s Housing White Paper entitled “Fixing our Broken Housing 
Market”.

Members welcomed the well written response and referred to the detailed 
discussion that had taken place at the Cabinet Advisory Panel. Having 
considered points raised by the Cabinet Advisory Panel Members endorsed 
the Panel’s support for the proposed response.



CABINET
THURSDAY 13 APRIL 2017

2

RESOLVED:

That the Council’s response to the Government’s White Paper ‘Fixing our 
Broken Housing Market’ (February 2017)’ consultation, as set out in Appendix 
B to the report, be agreed.

139. BUSINESS RATE POOL: USE OF POOL FUNDS 

This report sought Members’ agreement for the joint regeneration pot within 
the business rate pooling fund to be used as the Council’s contribution 
towards the Thames Gateway Kent Partnership, and to support the Dartford 
Town Centre Regeneration project.

The Managing Director noted that the contribution towards the Thames 
Gateway Kent Partnership was being made following a request from Kent 
County Council.

Members welcomed and endorsed the proposed uses for the joint 
regeneration part of the business rate pooling funds.

RESOLVED:

1. That a sum of £58,000 be drawn down from the joint regeneration pot 
of the business rate pooling funds as the contribution towards the work 
of the Thames Gateway Kent Partnership as set out in the report.

2. That the balance of the joint regeneration pot be used to support the 
Dartford Town Centre Regeneration project.

140. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING - LAND NORTH OF HEDGE PLACE 
ROAD 

This report asked Members to approve two new road names for the 
development of the land to the north of Hedge Place Road.

Members endorsed the road names that had been proposed in the report.

RESOLVED:

That Fairlawn and Swansfield be approved as the new road names for the 
development of the land to the north of Hedge Place Road.

141. ORCHARD THEATRE: AUDITORIUM SEATING 

The Orchard Theatre operator, HQ Theatres, wishes to replace the auditorium 
seating to meet health and safety requirements. Members were therefore 
asked to note the capital contribution that the Council is required to pay 
towards these works in accordance with the lease. Provision for this 
contribution has been made available within the 2017/18 Capital Programme.



CABINET
THURSDAY 13 APRIL 2017

3

Members noted that the overall cost of the improvements would be 
£52,225.05 and fully supported the investment that was being made in the 
theatre.

RESOLVED:

That it be noted that a contribution of £40,546.75 will be required from the 
Council towards the cost of replacement auditorium seating in accordance 
with the Orchard Theatre lease.

142. REPORT OF DELEGATED ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING ORDER 
38: RESPONSE TO A2 BEAN AND EBBSFLEET JUNCTION 
IMPROVEMENTS PUBLIC CONSULTATION 

This report advised Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of Standing 
Order 38(2)(b), of the delegated action taken under Standing Order 38(2)(a) 
by the Managing Director, in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, relating 
to the Council’s response to the Highways England public consultation on 
proposed improvements to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions.

Having noted that the proposals would improve traffic flow and air quality in 
the area the Chairman advised that the initial response had been enhanced 
prior to its submission to ensure that it reflected the Council’s deep concern 
for those Bean residents who would be displaced or inconvenienced by the 
proposed scheme. He also noted how the response had highlighted the 
impact the proposals might have on the Spirits Rest Horse Sanctuary and the 
need to ensure that a sustainable future can be found for the organisation.

The Head of Regeneration advised that detailed development proposals were 
being progressed and noted the Council’s involvement in this process. She 
also advised that the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) was 
exploring alternative housing options for those residents displaced by the 
scheme but was unsure how any impact on the Horse Sanctuary would be 
managed. 

Members referred to the Spirits Rest Horse Sanctuary and noted how the 
Council had on occasion made use of the services that they provide when 
stray horses are found in the Borough. 

The Head of Regeneration said that the actual impact that the proposals will 
have on the Horse Sanctuary would not be fully known until the detailed 
proposals have been prepared. Members again confirmed that they would 
provide help and assistance wherever possible to those impacted by the 
proposals.

RESOLVED:

That the action taken by the Managing Director, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Chairman, under Standing Order 38(2)(a), in relation to the Council’s 



CABINET
THURSDAY 13 APRIL 2017

4

response to the Highways England public consultation on proposed 
improvements to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions, be noted.

143. DARTFORD HOME ENERGY CONSERVATION - HOME ENERGY AND 
FUEL POVERTY ACTION PLAN 2015 – 2018 PROGRESS REPORT & 
HOME ENERGY AND FUEL POVERTY ACTION PLAN 2017 - 2020 

The Council is required to publish a report at two yearly intervals on progress 
made in implementing measures relating to the Home Energy Conservation 
Act 1995. This report presented the progress made against the actions in the 
2015 – 2018 Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan, and also covered a 
range of areas, including an analysis of Dartford’s current position regarding 
energy efficiency, and the action to be taken in the period 2017 to 2020. The 
report also included information relating to changes that had been made to 
the Energy Company Obligation Government Scheme following wide 
consultation.

The Strategic Director (External Services) drew Members’ attention to the 
points of clarification that had been provided at the Cabinet Advisory Panel 
meeting. She also referred to the discussion that had taken place relating to 
the mechanisms being used to gather evidence of fuel poverty and highlighted 
the suggestion that energy companies be asked to identify families who may 
be struggling to pay their bills, or are using less fuel than expected, and may 
therefore be experiencing fuel poverty. She noted how such information may 
be considered to be confidential and covered by data protection restrictions 
and confirmed that the Council already worked closely with energy providers.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the 2015 – 2018 Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action 
Plan progress report, attached at Appendix A to the report, and the Home 
Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2017 – 2020, attached at Appendix B to 
the report, be noted.

The meeting closed at 7.40 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION ON PROPOSALS REGARDING 
THE PENALTIES FOR ENVIRONMENTAL OFFENCES

1. Summary

1.1 This report brings to Members’ attention the Department for Environment,   
Food and Rural Affairs proposals to:

 Increase the levels for section 88 fixed penalties in the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 for littering and other environmental offences;

 Change the provision for how councils can use the income from fixed 
penalties for environmental offences; and 

 Remove the requirement for parish council enforcement officers to attend 
a specified training course.

1.2 This report summarises the proposals in the consultation paper and sets out 
the Council’s suggested response to the consultation.  

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1  That Cabinet approves, or amends, the proposed response to the consultation, 
as set out in Appendix A to the report.  

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. This consultation from the Department for Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs (DEFRA) states that ‘Littering, and associated 
environmental offences like dog fouling, blight our communities and 
impose avoidable costs on the public purse…’ sentiments with which 
this Council would concur. The consultation goes on to outline the 
“case for increasing the fines for littering” to help tackle this type of anti-
social behaviour. The levels for fixed penalties under section 88 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 have not changed since 2006, but 
adjusting for inflation since that time means that a maximum penalty of 
£80 in 2006 would now be £100. 

3.2. The Environmental Offences (Use of Fixed Penalty Receipts) 
Regulations 2007 and the Environmental Offences (Fixed Penalties) 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Regulations 2007 (the Regulations) both 
relate to the levels for fixed penalty notices that can be issued for 
various environmental offences, and to how income from fixed penalty 
notices can be used by the local authorities that issue them. The 
Regulations provide for fixed penalties for littering offences to be 
between £50 and £80 with the default fixed penalty set at £75.

3.3. The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 replaced some 
anti-litter enforcement powers covered by the Regulations with new 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/901/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/901/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/175/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/175/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/contents/enacted


CABINET
25 MAY 2017

improved enforcement powers, and DEFRA want to make the case for 
updating the Regulations to reflect this.

3.4. The Regulations also allowed “high performing” councils (as classified 
by the Audit Commission under the Local Government Act 2003) 
greater flexibility in how they use the income from fixed penalty notices 
for environmental offences than councils not classified as “high 
performing”. However, performance classification was abolished in 
2010 and the Audit Commission itself was abolished in March 2015, so 
DEFRA are suggesting that a new approach is needed to reflect the 
new enforcement landscape and provide clarity to councils.

3.5. DEFRA recognises that when litter is thrown from a vehicle, it can be 
hard to identify the offender. London Boroughs are currently able to 
issue a penalty charge notice to the keeper of a vehicle from which 
litter is thrown, even if they cannot establish the identity of the person 
who threw the litter. Section 154 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 2014  enables the Secretary of State to make 
regulations which would extend similar powers to other local 
authorities. Introducing these regulations will improve the suite of 
enforcement powers available to councils to tackle littering offences.

3.6. Following a successful trial, which commenced 25 January 2016, and 
an open procurement, the Council awarded Kingdom Security Ltd a 3 
year contract to provide litter and dog fouling enforcement services 
commencing January 2017.  Some 23 councils nationally, including six 
in Kent (Maidstone, Tunbridge Wells, Canterbury, Swale, Thanet and 
Gravesham) also utilise Kingdom to provide their litter and dog fouling 
enforcement. 

3.7. From 25 January 2016 through to 31 March 2017, 4418 tickets have 
been issued of which 3168 have been paid - a payment rate of 73.5%, 
the best overall payment percentage for all Kent schemes. 

3.8. The current cost to the perpetrator on issue of a Fixed Penalty Notice 
for litter by this Council is £75 and £50 for dog fouling.

Payment is required within 14 days. The Council’s system has proved 
robust - a majority of those issued an FPN pay within the 14 days and 
those that do not, are summonsed to court where they generally incur 
additional fines and costs. The service is fully self-funding, with surplus 
income generated used to support and improve the Council’s 
environmental services. The town centre is noticeably cleaner as a 
result of the initiative. Importantly, in the 15 months that the service has 
been operational there have been no instances of repeat offenders 
suggesting that the current level of fine is sufficient to drive behavioural 
change, which has always been the Council’s objective.  

3.9. Q5 of the consultation asks whether fixed penalties for littering should 
be increased, permitting only a simple ‘yes’ or ‘no’ response. Although 
Officers see no immediate need or justification to go beyond the 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/part/8/chapter/1/crossheading/performance-categories
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/section/154/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/contents/enacted


CABINET
25 MAY 2017

current charge of £75 it is proposed that the Council answers ‘yes’ but 
that this is qualified by the response to Q7.

3.10. Q7 of the consultation goes on to offer 4 options for increasing the 
fixed penalties. These are:-
Option 1 – increase the minimum, default and maximum fixed penalties 
to £60, £95 and £100 respectively.
Option 2a) – increase only the maximum fixed penalty to £100.
Option 2b) – increase only the maximum fixed penalty to £150.
Option 3 - increase the minimum, default and maximum fixed penalties 
to £65, £100 and £150 respectively.

The draft response to the consultation states that the Council’s 
preferred outcome is Option 2a). This would enable the Council to 
maintain its fixed penalty charge at £75 (which would remain the 
default level) without having to set a local charge level but would also 
provide the Council with the flexibility to increase charges in the future 
to a maximum of £100 if deemed appropriate and taking into account 
local circumstances. 

3.11. The draft response supports the proposal to increase Fixed Penalty 
Notice (FPN) charges for graffiti, fly posting and unauthorised 
distribution of literature in a designated area.

3.12. As stated in para.3.8, any surplus income from litter and dog fouling 
offences has been directed, in the first instance, towards the Council’s 
Environment and Sustainability and Safer Communities strategic aims. 
However, it is recommended that the Council supports the consultation 
proposal to have the ability to spend subsequent income on its 
functions, the Council being best placed to decide how to use its 
resources. 

3.13. The draft response recommends supporting the publication and 
availability of offences under the 2015 Local Government 
Transparency Code and Officers are working towards an online 
(Council website) solution to make this data available.

3.14. In terms of the proposals for greater powers to deal with Littering from 
Vehicles, the draft response supports fully the proposals and the ability 
to use any income generated from this offence on any of the Council’s 
functions. It is felt that this would have a positive impact and run 
concurrently with the Council’s approach to general litter enforcement. 
This proposal would provide a much clearer and intuitive enforcement 
opportunity for the Council to pursue offenders and/or registered 
keepers of vehicles.  

3.15. The consultation questions and proposed responses are set out in 
Appendix A.  The consultation link can be found at 
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/litter-penalties/

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/litter-penalties/


CABINET
25 MAY 2017

4.   Relationship to the Corporate Plan

       This report relates to the Corporate Plan strategic aims:-

 To reduce anti-social behaviour
 To ensure a high quality street-scene. 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other admin implications & risk assessments

Financial Implications None as a result of this report

Legal Implications None as a result of this report

Staffing Implications None as a result of this report

Administrative Implications As above

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Consultation questions and proposed response

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Mark Salisbury 
(01322) 343339

Enforcement and 
Regulatory Services

N/A



Response ID ANON-DFJY-NHYQ-D APPENDIX A

Submitted to Reducing litter: Penalties for environmental offences
Submitted on 2017-04-28 12:16:08

Confidentiality and Data Protection

1 Would you like your response to be confidential?

Matrix 1 - Do you want your response to remain confidential?

No

If "yes", it would be helpful if you could explain why.

Information about you

2 What is your name?

Name:

Mark Salisbury

3 What is your email address?

Email:

mark.salisbury@dartford.gov.uk

4 What is your organisation?

Organisation:

Dartford Borough Council

Background: About Environmental Offences

Levels and Ranges of Fixed Penalties: Rationale for Change

5 Should fixed penalties for littering offences be increased?

Yes

6 For local council respondents only: What impact would an increase in these fixed 
penalties have on your council? Please consider both costs and benefits, and 
provide evidence to support your response (e.g. number and level of fixed penalties 
that you currently issue per year and payment rate, costs of enforcement, 
prosecutions and implementation of any changes etc.).

For local council respondents only: What impact would an increase in these fixed 
penalties have on your council? Please consider both costs and benefits, and 

mailto:mark.salisbury@dartford.gov.uk


provide evidence to support your response (e.g. number and level of fixed penalties 
that you currently issue per year and payment rate, costs of enforcement, 
prosecutions and implementation of any changes etc.).

The decision to introduce contracted litter enforcement within the Borough, some 14 months 
ago, was not taken lightly and followed a robust public consultation process. Since its 
introduction the scheme has not been without its critics but has proven to be successful. We 
have had to introduce robust systems and processes for non-payment of fines which has 
included employing barristers to administer the process at court; again this has been 
successful. The overall objective in introducing this scheme was not to make money but to 
change offender behaviour towards ensuring a cleaner Borough for all. To this end the 
scheme is working and we have no evidence of repeat offenders. The fine of £75 is, for this 
council, sufficient at the moment and it is felt that any increase could incite further disquiet 
from pressure groups, the press and other factions that may scrutinise council decisions of 
this nature. See therefore response to Q7.

From 25th January 16 through to 31st March 2017, there were 4418 tickets issued of which 
3168 have been paid (this is excluding the 14 day period provided to pay – so is for the 
period 25/1/16 to 17/3/17) – 73.5% payment rate.

We still maintain the best overall payment % for Kent schemes at 73.5%.

Our robust policy of summons for all non-payees along with accepting full payment, up until 
48 hours before the court date, is still showing that approx. 33 % of those summonsed to 
court, are paying before the court date.

Options for Increasing Fixed Penalties: Littering Offences

7 Which options do you prefer?

Option 2(a) – increase only the maximum fixed penalty to £100.

Please use the free text box to tell us why:

This would allow the council to maintain its current practices and consider any increases in 
the future.

Options for Increasing Fixed Penalties: Graffiti, Fly-posting and Unauthorised 
Distribution of Free Literature in a Designated Area

8 Do you agree that any changes to the range of and default, fixed penalties for littering 
should be applied in the same way to the fixed penalties for:

Matrix 1 - Graffiti:

Yes

Matrix 1 - Fly-posting:

Yes



Matrix 1 - The unauthorised distribution of free literature in a designated area:

Yes

If you answered "no" to any of these, please use the free text box to explain your 
reasoning.

How Income from Fixed Penalty Notices can be used by District or Unitary Councils 
and Parish Councils

9 Do you agree that all councils should have the ability to spend their income from 
environmental offences on “any of their   functions”?

Yes

If not, please use the free text box to explain why.

10 For local council and parish council respondents only: Do you currently issue fixed 
penalty notices for environmental offences?

Yes

If so, how do you spend the income from these fixed penalty notices?

This income is generally reinvested in target hardening in Fly tipping 'hot spot' areas with 
material such as CCTV cameras, enforcement notices as well as necessary equipment for 
Enforcement officers.

Transparency

11 Should the Local Government Transparency Code be amended to make it clear that 
data on enforcement activities against littering and the other environmental offences 
should be published?

Yes

12 For local council respondents only: Do you publish this data already?

No

If so, where?

We always respond to requests for information in this respect and are currently working on 
an IT solution which will provide this data via the Council's website.

Training for Parish Council Enforcement Officers

13 Do you agree with the proposal to remove the requirement for training providers for 
parish council enforcement officers to be approved by the Secretary of State?

Yes



Littering from Vehicles

14 Do you agree with the proposed exemption for the keeper of public service vehicles, 
taxis and private hire vehicles when the littering offence is committed by a 
passenger?

Yes

If no, why?

15 Should the regulations provide for any other exemptions from liability to pay a civil 
penalty notice (as opposed to grounds for appeal against a civil penalty notice)?

Should the regulations provide for any other exemptions from liability to pay a civil 
penalty notice?

No

16 Should councils be able to use the income from civil penalties for littering from a 
vehicle in the same way as they can spend income from fixed penalties for littering 
offences?

Yes

If no, why do you consider that income from the two penalty regimes should be 
treated differently?

17 Should the default amount payable under a civil penalty notice be equivalent to the 
default amount payable under a fixed penalty notice for a littering offence (reflecting 
any changes to the default level of fixed penalty notices for littering)?

Yes

If no, why, and at what level should the default amount payable under a civil penalty 
notice be set?

18 Do you agree that, to encourage prompt payment, a late payment notice is issued if 
the amount payable under the civil penalty notice is not paid within 28 days?

Yes

If not, why?

19 Do you agree that the maximum increased civil penalty payable under a late payment 
notice should be the amount payable under the civil penalty notice increased by 
100% (i.e. the amount payable under the civil penalty notice multiplied by   2)?

Yes

If no, why, and by what factor should the civil penalty be increased?



20 For local council respondents only: What impact would the introduction of civil 
penalty notices have on your council? Please consider both costs and benefits, and 
provide evidence to support your response.

This would have a positive impact and run concurrently with our approach to Litter 
enforcement. Any implementation costs would be met from existing income from the litter 
enforcement scheme. We have already prosecuted offenders who have dropped litter from 
vehicles despite this being a difficult process in terms of identifying the offender etc. This 
proposal would provide a much clearer and intuitive enforcement opportunity for the 
authority to pursue against offenders and / or keepers of vehicles.

21 For councils in London: We propose that the new powers should only be available to 
councils outside London, on the basis that London councils already have similar 
powers under the London Local Authorities Act 2007. Do you agree?

N/A

If not, why?

22 For vehicle rental/hire company respondents only: The regulations will provide that a 
civil penalty can be appealed by a hirer if the vehicle in question was hired to another 
person with the effect that that person had become the ‘keeper’ (i.e. the person by 
whom the vehicle is kept) at the time of the littering offence. What, if any, 
familiarisation transitional or implementation costs would you anticipate incurring 
associated with the introduction of these new civil penalties (e.g. in amending 
standard contract forms etc.)?

Vehicle rental hire respondents: The regulations will provide that a civil penalty can 
be appealed by a hirer if the vehicle in question was hired to another person with the 
effect that that person had become the ‘keeper’ (i.e. the person by whom the vehicle 
is kept) at the time of the littering offence. What, if any, familiarisation transitional or 
implementation costs would you anticipate incurring associated with the introduction 
of these new civil penalties (e.g. in amending standard contract forms etc.)? :

N/A

Consultee Feedback on the Online Survey

23 Overall, how satisfied are you with our online consultation tool?

Satisfied

Please give us any comments you have on the tool, including suggestions on how we 
could improve it.

No comments





CABINET
25 MAY 2017

CONSULTATION ON APPLICATION TO VARY CONDITION 3 
ON THE OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION AT EASTERN 
QUARRY TO ALLOW A CHANGE TO THE PARAMETER 
PLANS AND THE LAND USE DISPOSITION

. 

1. Summary

1.1 This is a Key Decision as it is significant in terms of its effects on communities 
living or working in an area of the Borough comprising two or more wards.

1.2 This report is responding to the consultation by the Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation on a planning application to vary condition 3 on the Eastern 
Quarry Outline Planning Permission in order to amend the disposition of land 
uses in the site to create a different layout to the development. The report 
addresses the key issues from the proposals that impact on the delivery of the 
objectives and policies of the adopted Local Plan.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That, for the following reasons, the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation be 
advised that  the Council:

1. considers that the Section 73 application would result in a development 
substantially different from the one approved under outline planning permission 
03/01134/OUT as amended by 12/01451/EQVAR and that a fresh planning 
application should be submitted to allow consideration of the impacts of the 
proposal in a comprehensive manner;

2. objects to the proposed changes and considers that they are contrary to the 
adopted Local Plan for the reasons set out in the report and requests that the 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation refuses to grant the section 73 permission;

3. has significant concerns about the proposal to vary the current s106 and to 
require a new s106 to cover two different landownerships and two different 
mixed use developments.

2.2 That in order to ensure the requirements of the Local Plan are met, Officers 
engage with the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation with regard to changes to 
the strategies, the amendments to the Section 106 agreement, the conditions and 
the detail of the submission of the Habitats Regulation Assessment.

3. Background 

3.1 The Borough Council granted outline planning permission in November 2007 
for the development of Eastern Quarry for a mixed use development of up to 
6250 dwellings and 231,000sq m of mixed used floorspace including 
employment, education, community, hotel, theatre, supporting retail and 
leisure (ref DA/03/01134/OUT).  Detailed design is a matter for later 
consideration. The permission was subject to a s106 agreement, a series of 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

strategies and conditions.  Given the timescale for the delivery of 
development, the strategies sought to set out how the development would 
be delivered and provide more detail than could be set out in the s106. The 
strategies are required to be implemented through the conditions and the 
s106, and form a fundamental element of the acceptability of the proposal 
which resulted in the planning permission being granted.

3.2 The parameters have been previously varied through a similar application in 
2012 (at the end of the recession), which was a minor change to allow the 
early delivery of housing on the eastern end of the site close to Southfleet 
Road, replacing the proposed employment floorspace with residential 
development and re-locating a local park closer to Southfleet Road.  (ref: 
DA/12/01451/EQVAR).

3.3 The outline planning application included parameter plans which set out the 
limits of the proposals. The application was assessed against in the 
Environment Impact Assessment Statement.  A condition of the outline 
permission tied the development to these parameter plans. In addition, a 
Land Use Disposition Plan was prepared which showed the broad location of 
the different land uses and this was also referred to in the condition requiring 
compliance.

3.4 The eastern part of the site, known as Castle Hill is already under 
construction delivering houses, a primary school and a local centre.

3.5 The application, which the Council is being asked to comment on, seeks to 
vary the condition (under s73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) 
listing the approved parameter plans and substituting these with updated 
plans to amend the layout of the development and land use disposition for 
the remainder of the development between Castle Hill and St Clements Way 
in the west.

3.6 Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides for 
“applications for planning permission for the development of land without 
complying with conditions subject to which a previous planning permission 
was granted”. The purpose of this is to allow variation of detailed conditions 
and also minor amendments to a planning permission by substituting plans. 
The granting of a s73 application results in the issue of a new planning 
permission, but it does not supersede or replace the extant permission to 
which the variation is sought. A previous deed of variation to the Eastern 
Quarry S106 allows for s73 permissions to be subject to the original s106.  
In deciding an application under s73 the local planning authority must only 
consider the condition that is the subject of the application. The Government 
advises in the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) that: “New 
issues may arise after planning permission has been granted, which require 
modification of the approved proposals. Where these modifications are 
fundamental or substantial, a new planning application.....will need to be 
submitted.”  Where less substantial changes are proposed they advise that 
an application can be made to amend the conditions attached to a planning 
application including seeking to make a minor material amendment. The 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

variation of a condition listing approved plans to allow the substitute of plans 
is a minor material amendment. The Government confirms in the NPPG that 
there is no statutory definition of a ‘minor material amendment’ but it is likely 
to include “any amendment where its scale and/or nature results in a 
development which is not substantially different from the one which has 
been approved.”

3.7 In considering the current application therefore, the key test is whether the 
amendment results in a development which is substantially different from the 
one which has been approved and to this end this report compares the key 
issues arising from the current proposals with the approved details and the 
consideration of the Development Control Board in granting the outline 
planning permission in 2007.

4. Summary of the proposed variations to the outline planning permission

4.1 The proposed changes relate to the western two thirds of the Eastern Quarry 
site and the applicant advises that the amendment under s73 is to achieve 
an updated, developable and fit for purpose Outline Planning Permission. 

4.2 There appear two key drivers to the changes proposed to the planning 
permission. The first is the retention of land to the west by Land Securities 
and the desire to create a commercial mixed use area comprising retail, 
leisure and office floorspace. The other key change influencing the overall 
design is the retention of a chalk cliff in the centre of the site, following the 
completion of the quarrying. The retention of the cliff through the centre of 
the quarry leads to the division of the planned western and central villages 
and poor connections between centres and community facilities. However 
removal of the cliff costs more than its retention and therefore the issue to be 
balanced is whether the removal of this physical division (required by the 
previous planning permission) is critical in order to deliver an integrated 
development.

4.3 The key changes to the parameter plans and text are as follows:
 Movement and infrastructure parameters: The movement corridors have 

been changed to reflect a new road layout shown on the proposed site 
wide masterplan. A new potential public transport, walking and cycling 
access corridor is added to the north of the site to connect with Alkerden 
Lane. 

 Green Zones parameter: Slight change to the alignment of the Green 
Zones

 Ecological and nature reserve areas parameters: some change to the 
areas provided for ecology

 Finished ground levels; varied to reflect the ground levels on site 
following completion of quarrying works. The approved parameter plan 
proposed an even fall across the site, to be created by land forming. The 
current proposal retains the north-south cliff south of Craylands gorge 
and also steeper levels immediately south of Alkerden Lane in this area.



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

 Major Urban park parameter: proposes to reduce the depth of the east-
west major urban park approved but includes a new area running north-
south.

 Linkages parameters: The revised plan shows the removal of linkages in 
the south-east, the applicant argues that this is due to the cliff barrier but 
in fact one of these is an existing PROW within the site.

 The Land Use Disposition Plan (LUDP): shows a significant change to 
the approved LUDP, primarily: the re-location of the market centre to the 
west of the site adjacent to the western boundary; the movement of high 
density housing away from the Fastrack route with clusters around the 
north-west corner and southern boundary on the former washmills site; 
the reduction in useable open space; reduction in the width of the east-
west ecological corridor; reduction in the size of the lakes; change to the 
Major Urban Park area; and the identification of a Local Park in part of 
this area.

 A new phasing plan has also been submitted which indicates the 
phasing of the development but excludes the open space areas and 
provides no indication about infrastructure, roads, links and bus routes 
phasing. 

4.4 The parameters plans are supported by a parameter’s schedule and 
disposition of development which has also been amended:

 This advises the market centre will be located adjacent to the western 
village instead of being located contiguously with the central village. 

 The section relating to the washmills peninsula has been removed as it 
is no longer shown to be separated by the lake. 

 The residential densities have been amended to provide upper and 
lower limits whereas previously they were lower thresholds allowing for a 
variety of densities (this is discussed further below to identify the risks of 
this approach).

 The “market centre” is to contain a total floorspace of 167,500sqm 
comprising of 108,000 sqm office, 11,000 sqm hotel, 23,000sqm retail, 
25,000 sqm leisure, 500sqm community facilities and no residential 
floorspace.

 The central village will be made up primarily of community floorspace 
(300,000sqm comprising predominantly the education campus) and a 
maximum of 3020 residential units with a small amount of retail 
4,000sqm.

4.5 Since the change is to the parameters on which the Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA) was based consideration has to be given as to whether a 
revised EIA is required and in this case, an addendum (update) to the 
previous EIA has been carried out and submitted with the application in 
order to meet the EIA regulations.

4.6 The applicant also advises that the s106 will need to be amended to reflect 
the changes and the multiple ownerships.



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

4.7 The applicant has also provided amended versions of some of the strategies 
which form part of the permission but advises that these are for illustrative 
purposes and so are not for consideration as part of the application the 
Council is being consulted upon. However, the strategies are fundamental to 
the permission and some of the changes within them give an indication of 
the details behind the application details.

5. Planning policy

5.1. The requirement in primary planning legislation is for the statutory 
development plan to be the starting point in determining applications and this 
applies at Ebbsfleet. This is confirmed in the National Planning Policy 
Framework, whereby the government support a ‘plan-led’ system.  The 
proposal therefore needs to be considered against the adopted Local Plan.  

5.2 The adopted Core Strategy seeks to focus development in three priority 
areas, one of which is the Ebbsfleet to Stone area which includes Eastern 
Quarry. The Core Strategy advises “The size of sites within the three priority 
areas enables the creation of high quality, mixed and sustainable 
developments. It allows development to take place in a planned way with 
infrastructure delivered as part of the scheme, resulting in communities 
supported by appropriate infrastructure and facilities.” Policy CS5 of the 
Core Strategy sets out the local plan policy to be applied specifically to the 
Ebbsfleet Valley Strategic Site, incorporating Eastern Quarry. The policy 
advises that Diagram 6, set out below, will be used to inform detailed 
proposals for the site. 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

5.3 Policy CS5 seeks to ensure mixed use development where leisure and retail 
uses are required to support the residential community.  It sets out principles 
against which applications to change the existing planning permission will be 
considered. The following principles are particularly relevant to the current 
proposal:

 c) Linked residential communities or ‘villages’, with a sufficient critical mass 
to support services, community infrastructure and the Fastrack service, (see 
point 4e) At Eastern Quarry and Northfleet West Sub-station, these will 
consist predominantly of family housing.
d) A walking and cycling network and a Fastrack route across the area 
encouraging a high proportion of trips by sustainable means. 
e) Provision of community infrastructure, including schools, health facilities, 
sports and leisure facilities, community meeting places and shops provided 
at an appropriate stage of development to meet the needs of residents, 
located to meet the needs of residents and complementary to existing 
provision in adjoining communities.
f) A mixed use centre at the heart of each residential village, including 
community facilities and local shop(s), located to be easily accessible by 
sustainable forms of transport to residents and employees, with phased 
provision as the development progresses. One of these to provide a more 
comprehensive range of services and shops (see Diagram 6), with smaller, 
local facilities in the adjacent centres.

5.4 Policy CS5 requires that applications for, or changes to, area masterplans or 
reserved matters will need to demonstrate that proposals will not undermine 
the principles to be achieved across the site as a whole, as set out in the 
outline consent to which they relate. It also seeks to reduce the need to 
travel, minimise car use and make the most effective use of the transport 
network. It therefore encourages mixed use development and close 
interrelationship between complementary land uses: homes, jobs, shops and 
leisure, recreational and community facilities.

6. Key Issues for consideration

6.1 The outline planning permission for Eastern Quarry was formed in a way that 
allowed for on-going change to the detailed provision. However, it sought to 
set down obligations and requirements with regard to the “non-negotiables”, 
which focused on meeting key principles, without which the development 
was not considered acceptable. The current proposal in officer’s opinion 
seeks to unravel some of these non-negotiables and undermine the planning 
permission and objectives of the development. These same principles are 
encapsulated in Local Plan policy, both with specific reference to the Eastern 
Quarry development, as well as through general Borough-wide policies.  
They are fundamental to sustainable development in Dartford and are 
weighty matters to be considered in any proposed amendments to the 
application. 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

6.2 In addition to the substantive issues, there are procedural/legal issues with 
regard to how an application for amendments to an existing application can 
be considered. A key test is whether the amendment results in a 
development which is substantially different from the one which has been 
approved.  The relevant consideration in the report to the Development 
Control Board on 5 July 2007 on which the resolution to grant planning 
permission was based is included below together with an assessment of the 
differences. 

6.3 The development parameters, which are sought to be changed, guide the 
assessment of the proposal in the Environmental Impact Statement but also 
provide the parameters for future detailed design submissions. The LUDP is 
one way that the development can be built out to accord with these 
parameters, it is included as an approved plan within the planning 
permission as the location and layout of the land uses were fundamental to 
the granting of the planning permission. On a smaller outline planning 
permission the parameters might be the only detail that is approved.  But 
due to the scale and significance of the proposal at Eastern Quarry the 
outline planning permission granted also included detail on the expected 
layout of the development, provided through the LUDP and the strategies, in 
order to ensure the creation of communities built around a cluster of facilities 
in order to discourage external car trips and also deter car trips into the 
development. The following extracts from the 5th July 2007 Development 
Control Board report explain this.

Extract from DCB 5-07-07 report 
“7.4 In considering the development of Eastern Quarry, as a whole, the local 
planning authority and consultees on the applications have considered the 
need to create a single sustainable community on the site, which is not 
planned arbitrarily along ownership lines.  A central focus is therefore 
required for the development which provides community and commercial 
facilities. This will enable an area of critical mass to be formed, which will 
create activity and discourage people from travelling outside of the 
development. This area will take the form of a market centre with retail, 
commercial and community facilities, as well as an education campus.  In 
order to provide convenient facilities across the remainder of the 
development, a "hub and spoke" approach is considered appropriate so that 
a central facility is supplemented by spoke facilities situated in the planned 
neighbourhoods. With regard to open space, these will have a hierarchy and 
the larger areas will seek to provide for the whole development.”

“7.7 In order to achieve sustainable planning of the site, the first 
consideration is to ensure that the necessary facilities are provided in 
appropriate locations across the site in order to serve the whole 
development.”



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

Land Use Disposition Plan approved:

Land Use Disposition Plan proposed:

Purple denotes the market centre and local centres



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

6.4 Market centre

“Extract from DCB 5-07-07 report
Retail
10.96 A Retail and Leisure Impact Assessment has been submitted as 
part of the planning application. The level of retail floorspace proposed is 
now considered to be an acceptable level in order to allow for the creation of 
a market centre of critical mass which will promote a sense of place and a 
sustainable community but at the same time is not of such a level that it will 
become a key attractor and draw in people outside of the development, to 
the detriment of adjoining town centres.  

10.97 The market centre, as proposed, is also likely to serve as a draw 
for the development of the Northfleet West Sub Station site and therefore the 
needs of this development have been taken into account in considering 
whether the level of floorspace proposed in the market centre is 
appropriate.”

6.5 This consideration in the report to Development Control Board was based 
upon the location of the Market Centre in the centre of the site with the 
fundamental and ‘non-negotiable’ principle being that the market centre retail 
space was intended to meet the needs of the new local community of 
residents and workers. Due to the location of the market centre in the centre 
of the site reached by a tortuous (as opposed to direct) road network it was 
considered that external trips by car would be deterred. The Site Wide 
Design Strategy approved as part of the outline planning permission requires 
the market centre in the central area of the development. “The location of the 
urban education campus immediately to the north will reinforce the role of 
the centre and help generate activity” 

6.6 The current proposal places all the retail, office and leisure floorspace 
together at the western end of the site, away from the development it would 
serve (which includes the Ebbsfleet Green site (former Northfleet West Sub 
Station) as well as the Eastern Quarry site. The commercial mixed use area 
would be readily visible from St Clements Way and would be at the bottom 
of a direct road access from the Hedge Place Road (Bluewater access) 
roundabout on St Clements Way. This is an ideal location for a retail based 
development seeking to attract expenditure from a wider area than just the 
development itself. Officers consider the location would make the uses much 
more visible outside of the site and will result in more external customers.  
The lack of co-location with the education campus, or even the primary 
school and residential development also removes the ability of the “market 
centre”/commercial mixed use area to allow for linked trips.  The harm of this 
change particularly in combination with Bluewater, is that it would act as an 
additional draw, pulling in greater retail spend from a wide area resulting in 
potential detrimental impact on town centres and increased traffic to this 
already congested area.  Secondly this wider draw will result in ‘higher level’ 
retail provision, rather than day to day goods and services required by local 
population to meet their daily and weekly needs.  



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

6.7 As well as the provision of community facilities, services and opportunities 
for small business, the intended role of the market centre is retail and leisure 
to meet local needs, which is set out within the current adopted Local Plan 
policy (Policy CS12 and related Table 3). The intention was that its co-
location with the school provides critical mass encouraging residents to stay 
within Eastern Quarry for services rather than needing to travel outside the 
development by car. It is considered that it will be more difficult for a stand-
alone commercial mixed use area to address local needs. It is not possible 
to control the exact nature of shopping and leisure provision through the 
planning use classes.  The outline permission, therefore, sought to achieve 
the objectives of a sustainable and less car dependent community through 
the central location of the market centre, its accessibility by different forms of 
transport and its co-location with other service and community provision.  
The proposed layout undermines these objectives.

6.8 The proposed market centre is a significant distance from much of the 
community it is intended to serve, that is Castle Hill and Ebbsfleet Green. 
This is in conflict with Policy CS5 (4e) which seeks that provision is located 
to meet the needs of residents.   In addition, the phasing plan indicates that 
it would be bought forward as the final phase so it would not be able to meet 
a demand for the development currently under way for several years, by 
which time residents will have established shopping patterns and are likely 
to need to use a car to visit other commercial areas.  This is in conflict with 
Policy CS5 (4e) which seeks that the provision is made at an appropriate 
stage of development to meet the needs of residents.

6.9 Paragraph 3.55 of the planning statement submitted with the application 
describes the market centre as providing for “these larger style uses”. It is 
not clear what these larger uses are. The current permission seeks to limit 
the size of the retail units and requires an assessment of leisure facilities. 
But once the market centre has been separated from the residential 
development, it will be very easy for the developer to justify change to the 
floorspace, from office to retail for instance due to lack of need.

6.10 The lack of residential development within the commercial mixed use area 
also prevents the creation of an integrated development or the creation of a 
vibrant development and instead is likely to create a sterile retail, leisure and 
employment park. This is contrary to principles of the outline planning 
permission and the Core Strategy. 

6.11 The applicant argues that diagram 6 of Policy CS5 is for indicative purposes 
only. This is not a correct interpretation of the policy. The policy specifically 
states that Diagram 6 will be used to inform detailed proposals for the site.  
Diagram 6 shows the provision of a Main Centre within the central part of 
Eastern Quarry, and should include shops, secondary school and a range of 
other services. Local centres to the east and west are intended to provide 
“spokes” to this “hub”.

6.12 The retail impact assessment submitted with the outline planning application 
is now out of date.  But the applicants argue that the proposals are in 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

accordance with an up-to-date development plan and therefore there is no 
requirement for a retail impact assessment.  Officers consider that the 
proposed change only conforms with the Policy CS5 if the proposed 
commercial mixed use centre meets local needs only. There is no evidence 
within the submission that this remains the case or that this could be 
effectively controlled. The disposition of the development suggests a wider 
catchment area; it is not central to the development it serves; there is no 
integration with the development it serves in terms of uses; the location is 
adjacent to Bluewater allowing for linked trips with this regional shopping 
centre; the location has limited connections to adjacent residential 
development as it is bounded by cliffs; the phasing of the area does not 
meet the needs of the development as it comes forward.  Officers consider 
therefore that the proposal could have a significant impact on the 
surrounding centres and a fresh retail impact assessment should be 
submitted for this proposed change to the development.

6.13 Officers do not consider that the changes to the location, uses and form of 
the ‘market centre’ meet the planning purposes of the outline planning 
permission and are a fundamental change requiring a fresh planning 
application. In addition, the proposals for the market centre and land use 
disposition of the development in their current form are considered to be 
contrary to adopted Local Plan policy. The proposals for the main centre to 
be located in the western village is in direct conflict with the Ebbsfleet 
Development Framework, 2017 which identifies Alkerden Village as the only 
‘larger local centre’ within Eastern Quarry, comprising a large group of shops 
and a range of non-retail services, co-located with the education campus (pp 
72-73).  

6.14 Residential densities and public transport orientated development

Extract from DCB 5-07-07 report
“A concentration of the highest densities in locations best served by public 
transport:
10.8 The parameters submitted with the planning application confirm that 
development within 400m of a primary transport stop will have the highest 
density. The detailed layout for this will be achieved through the Area Master 
Plans and reserved matters submissions.”

6.15 The approved density parameters are: 
 Within 400m of a primary public transport stop at least 60dwellings per 

ha
 In excess of 400m from a public transport stop at least 30 dwellings per 

hectare
 Within the eastern gateway area (Castle Hill) at least 40 dwellings per 

hectare.

The proposed density parameters simply define low, medium and high 
density:
 Low density: below 30 dwellings per hectare
 Medium density: between 30-60 dwellings per hectare



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

 High density: above 60 dwellings per hectare

There is now no minimum threshold in the low density areas and the 
medium density areas could be developed at a lower density than sought by 
the Core Strategy. Very low density development undermines the objectives 
of the Core Strategy to achieve modal shift particularly in the large planned 
developments and this could undermine the transport objectives of the Core 
Strategy. The reduction in densities proposed has also led to more of the 
site being covered by development to the detriment of open space in the 
submitted LUDP which undermines the Core Strategy objectives with regard 
to open space. 

6.16  The proposed parameter changes set out that residential development 
along the Fastrack corridor and in close proximity of a primary public 
transport stop should provide high density development. Officers would 
contend that “close proximity” is not defined clearly enough to form a 
parameter. The need to provide high density development to support public 
transport should be based on walk times to stops. The Fastrack corridor 
itself does not provide access to the stop or service and is, therefore, not a 
useful indicator.  It is also concerning that there is no requirement for high 
density to be clustered around community facilities and services. It is not 
clear how this complies with the EDC vision that 90% of Garden City 
residents will live within five minutes of a Fastrack stop.

6.17 The high density developments shown on the proposed LUDP (salmon 
colour on the plan) do not relate to the local centres/market centres or mixed 
use areas or Fastrack stops. Two of the highest density development areas 
are furthest from Fastrack and adjacent to vehicular entrances to Eastern 
Quarry. This is contrary to the principles of the outline planning permission 
as a public transport orientated development and the objectives of the Core 
Strategy. It is also fundamentally poor urban design and in conflict with the 
stated Garden City principles which seek increased residential densities 
around public transport stops (Ebbsfleet Development Framework, 2017, 
pp56-57). 

6.18 The current proposal for density and land use disposition is therefore a 
fundamental change to the outline planning permission requiring a fresh 
planning application but also contrary to the adopted Local Plan and the 
EDC’s adopted Framework.

6.19 Open space

“Extract from DCB 5-07-07 report
Open Space/Informal Recreation
10.75 Policy MDS 5 and the Planning Brief require 33% of the 
application site to be allocated for open space uses, including public open 
space, water features, and landscaping. It is confirmed in the parameters 
submitted with the planning application that at the end state of the 
development a minimum of 33% of the site shall be open space. However 
the parameters submitted with the application do not confirm that the open 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

space will be for public use and therefore clarification on this has been 
sought through the section 106 agreement and the Strategies.  The broad 
disposition of open space proposed by the application includes: north-south 
links through the site providing green areas bordering each village; 
ecological and natural reserve areas, including Craylands Gorge; a northern 
park and  east-west Green Grid link providing a wildlife movement corridor, 
informal recreation, and an attractive corridor for pedestrian and cycle 
movement linking to areas outside of the site; the retention of the existing 
open areas along the cliff tops, both to the north, south and east. In addition, 
the open space provision incorporates the lake (which is required to balance 
the water levels in the quarry) and an urban park is to be provided adjacent 
to the lake in order to provide for informal and formal recreation.
10.76 The application proposes two main areas for informal recreation 
- the major urban park in the north of the site and a larger park to the south 
adjacent to the lake, as well as Green Grid links across the site.  

10.78 Following concerns expressed by Swanscombe and Greenhithe 
Town Council, the applicant reviewed the form of the open space to the 
north of the site.  This has resulted in a significantly larger Major Urban Park 
("the Northern Park") in the north-west part of the site, an area of 
approximately 46 acres, and has also increased the separation between the 
northern spine road and the existing Manor Road and Durrant Way 
dwellings.  As a part of the discussions on the proposals the applicants have 
also carried out extensive work to demonstrate what form the open space 
might take and this has been incorporated into the Landscape and Open 
Space Strategy. This shows the northern park providing a mix of ecological 
areas, informal open space, possible reuse of Western Cross Farm for 
community use, a north-south green wedge linking the northern park to a 
park in the south incorporating the lake and therefore allowing for water-
based recreational activities.  In addition, local and neighbourhood parks will 
provide more direct access to open space for each of the villages proposed. 
The Northern park will therefore provide a high quality urban park which 
meets the needs of the development and is also accessible for the existing 
community.”

6.20 The applicant argues that the proposal will not result in a loss of open space 
and that 33% open space required by the approved parameters will still be 
delivered on the site. One of the key considerations in considering the 
original outline planning permission was to ensure that this open space 
provision was useable. The plans submitted with the current amendment are 
somewhat misleading at face value as much of the “green” shown is cliff or 
steep topography and therefore not useable for recreation purposes. Policy 
CS14 requires the provision of multi-functional high quality varied open 
space and requires new development to contribute to the Green Grid 
network. The policy also requires significant biodiversity improvements at the 
Ebbsfleet Valley development sites.

6.21 It is not evident from the submission how much “useable” open space will be 
provided as part of the proposal. However, the outline permission requires a 
major urban park plus local parks whereas the current proposal indicates a 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

local park within the area shown on the parameters plan as Major Urban 
Park and much of the area of this park covers the cliff area north of the site, 
where access is limited due to topography and ecology. The proposed major 
urban park also runs along the retained north-south spine, again along the 
edge of a cliff. No consideration has been made of how much an offset from 
the back of the cliff edge will be required to ensure public safety. As 
Members will be aware these cliffs have unpredictable stability.  Officers, 
consider that from experience the open space here will be reduced in width 
in order to meet health and safety requirements providing little useable 
amenity for informal kickabouts, kite flying etc. In addition the approved 
Landscape and Open Space Strategy requires 9 hectares of the Major 
Urban Park to be useable open space but there has been no indication of 
how this can be achieved on the revised LUDP. The planning permission 
also requires the delivery of formal recreation facilities across the site to 
serve the needs of the residents including play areas, tennis and netball 
courts, MUGAs and four playing pitches. The proposed LUDP and the 
illustrative Site Wide Master Plan do not show how or where these will be 
provided on the site. It is also not clear from the phasing plan when the open 
spaces and formal recreation will come forward.

6.22 The disposition of the open space and recreation facilities shown on the 
proposed LUDP and within the illustrative revised strategies does not 
provide access to the community on a planned or consistent basis.  The 
local parks are no longer spread throughout the development as approved 
which was designed to provide close access for each “village”, but instead 
are either on a single north-south access or are located at the far eastern 
edge of the site, easily accessible by only a small part of the Castle Hill 
community. This change was allowed to bring forward development quickly 
but it should be compensated by the location of other Local Parks within the 
development being provided in closer proximity to the housing they serve. 
Only 3 local parks are shown on the new LUDP, which meets the s106 
obligation but is less than those shown on the approved LUDP, which 
indicated 4 Local Parks. One of the Local Parks is also now adjacent to the 
Major Urban Park within the area shown on the parameters plan for the 
major urban park.   Neighbourhood greens which are intended to provide 
open space in the heart of the built development are now proposed to be 
located adjacent to other open space on the edge of the built development 
and so serve no function in breaking up built form. One Local Park is divided 
by main roads so its value will be diminished. The current proposed 
amendment to the LUDP also shows the loss of greenfield land at Alkerden 
Farm which has historic, ecological value from trees and hedges and its loss 
does not appear to have been considered fully. 

6.23 The revised proposal does not show the Public Right of Way DS20 which is 
within the site boundary and could therefore be improved through the 
permission at its connection north of the A2. The proposed LUDP and the 
illustrative Landscape and Open Space Strategy also no longer show the 
connecting “way” to DS20 (north-south through the site) which was required 
to meet local concerns about re-providing the original route of DS20 
following diversion due to quarrying. Officers consider that this is an 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

appropriate requirement for the restoration of the quarried site through 
development and this “way” is required by the s106 and the approved 
Landscape and Open Space Strategy. 

6.24 Parameter Plan 5b shows an ecological corridor but the proposed LUDP 
builds over this leaving a very narrow corridor. This proposed corridor has 
housing on both sides and therefore has a greater potential for human 
interference and predation by pets, which Officers consider will undermine its 
ecological function. It is likely to be a narrow unkempt area of landscape 
which will provide security issues and in officers opinion does not achieve 
the minimisation of opportunities for crime through design. Other ecological 
corridors are crossed by an increased number of roads and Officers consider 
that the proposed revised layout will not meet the requirements of Policy 
CS14 to protect and improve biodiversity on the site. It is also concerning to 
note that the addendum to the Environment Statement advises some of the 
retained landscape areas are returning to scrub which reduces their 
landscape value, even though these areas are required to be managed  
under the approved planning permission to retain habitat. The erosion of the 
quality of the identified ecological corridors will make it difficult to enhance 
biodiversity across the site. This will be contrary to EDC Objective 10 which 
is to “Celebrate Ebbsfleet’s cliffs, lakes, waterways industrial heritage and 
archaeological assets to create a unique environment which enhances 
ecological and biodiversity value and creates a stimulating environment 
which supports positive mental health”.

6.25 The plans set out below shows the limited public access to open space in 
the new layout compared with the existing consent.  This would be contrary 
to the considerations taken into account in the existing consent and Local 
Plan policy (CS1, point 3 – new areas will be strongly integrated with existing 
communities providing many benefits, including green spaces), as well as 
being contrary to EDC objective 09 to “Exploit the best of Ebbsfleet’s blue 
and green natural assets to open up landscape and public realm which will 
encourage active lifestyles and help to establish Ebbsfleet as a premier 
destination for recreation and leisure in Kent. 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

Landscape and Open Strategy approved 2007 illustrating accessibility for 
Landscape and Open Space

Landscape and Open Strategy proposed 2017 illustrating accessibility for 
Landscape and Open Space



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

6.26 The revised parameters still require 33% open space across the site but this 
is considered insufficient to meet the Core Strategy requirements for the 
specific functions that need to be catered for and usability of the space.  This 
was achieved through the existing planning permission through very specific 
requirements for parks, play spaces and formal recreation. The current 
proposals provide for reduced and less specific requirements for open space 
without apparent consideration of how the open space will be integrated with 
and used by the new and existing communities It would appear that the open 
space requirements have been amended to fit around the built development, 
rather than through an integrated consideration of the two, with the open 
space designed and located to meet the needs of the area. 

6.27 The proposed amendment to the Landscape and Open Space Strategy 
submitted for illustrative purposes raises concerns for Officers because it is 
part of the S106.  As such, open space and landscaping has to be 
completed in accordance with its specifications and requirements.  Since 
changes to the document can have a large bearing on the quality of 
development and affect its ability to meet Local Plan policy, it is not sufficient 
to submit it ‘for illustrative purposes’ only.  Rather, it requires full and formal 
consideration to assess whether it is fit for purpose.

6.28 The Landscape and Open Space Strategy has also removed the triggers for 
provision of open spaces. Officers consider that these are critical to ensure 
recreation and open spaces come forward with the development build out. 
The submitted phasing plan does not include open space and there is no 
guarantee that one phase will be built before the other starts, that open 
space will be provided before completion of a phase and that the facilities 
and formal provision will be accessible to the occupied houses. In officers’ 
opinion triggers should still be set as to when the open spaces and formal 
play and recreation is to be provided which are linked to development 
delivery.  The lack of appropriate triggers is contrary to Policy CS5 (4e) of 
the Core Strategy which requires that community infrastructure including 
sports and leisure facilities is provided at an appropriate stage of 
development to meet the needs of residents.

6.29 The proposals are contrary to the EDC’s commitment for development to 
benefit existing residents and communities; to negotiate an improvement in 
local impact and opportunities if existing planning permissions are re-opened 
and to develop parks and public spaces with the local community (Ebbsfleet 
Implementation Framework, 2017, p16). The current proposals appear to be 
in direct conflict with this undertaking, particularly given the strength of local 
feeling when the permission was first considered seeking the provision of a 
large ‘Northern Park’ to provide a facility which would also be accessible to 
the existing community and  help integrate both communities.

6.30 The current proposal for open space provision, disposition and phasing is 
therefore a fundamental change to the outline planning permission requiring 
a fresh planning application but also contrary to the adopted Local Plan.  



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

6.31 Traffic

“Extract from DCB 5-07-07 report
10.10 The planning application proposes a comprehensive and innovative 
approach to transport planning which deals not simply with the road network 
and how any impact can be mitigated but instead seeks to change travel 
habits by taking a comprehensive approach to creating a sustainable 
development where the need to use the car is reduced. The planning 
application therefore proposes:

- the creation of a new community with a land use pattern (e.g. 
comprehensive provision of community and leisure facilities, employment 
and services, all co-located and easily accessible from the residential areas) 
which seeks to minimise the need for car trips within the site boundaries and 
reduce the necessity for trips to be made to external facilities.  
- A network of public transport services based around a Fastrack spine 
which will provide an efficient alternative to the car.
- An internal road network which will discourage through traffic and the use 
of the car for short trips
- A system of checks and controls on the amount of vehicular traffic which 
crosses the boundary to the site. A number plate recognition monitoring 
system will record traffic levels and where necessary measures to reduce 
traffic will be applied in order to bring traffic levels down.”

6.32 The transport assessment submitted with the current application has not 
been updated to take account of the changes to the land use disposition but 
is simply an update of the reference case. The applicants argue the amount 
of floorspace is the same. Officers would argue that the disposition of 
development and the way it is co-located can have an impact on car 
generation and people’s decision to own or use a car. The disposition of 
development is one of the fundamental principles behind the adopted Local 
Plan in order to achieve modal shift (Core Strategy Policy CS15).  As 
discussed previously, the creation of a segregated commercial mixed use 
development at the western end of the Quarry is likely to attract a greater 
level of vehicle trips than a mixed use market centre in the middle of the 
development. Since the original Transport Assessment was based on the 
parameter that the market centre was located in the middle of the 
development, officers consider that the revised location and land use should 
be reassessed.

6.33 In addition, the Kent Thameside model made high assumptions of internal 
trips for EQ and the Ebbsfleet Green site based on the integrated 
development and the co-location of facilities central to the development 
reducing the need for residents to leave the site to access these. However, 
the location of the “market centre” further way, particularly from NWSS and 
Castle Hill is likely to deter internal trips as residents find it easier to drive out 
of the site. In the proposed location, the nature of provision is more likely to 
be geared towards ‘higher level retail’ rather than meeting daily and weekly 
needs of local residents, which again will require residents and workers to go 
further to meet these needs. In addition, the proposal to provide the 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

commercial facilities as the last phase will mean that these are not available 
for residents which will also lead to external trips and patterns establishing, 
such that the assumptions in the Kent Thameside model for internal trips 
and modal shift may be over-optimistic. More external trips will mean more 
traffic on surrounding roads that has not been accounted for or assessed in 
the network and strategic road junction improvements coming forward. There 
has been no consideration of this in the Transport Assessment addendum. 

6.34 In addition the proposed LUDP indicates that much of the high density 
development will not be within a 5 minute walk time of a Fastrack stop which 
is contrary to the Site Wide Design Strategy, the objectives of the Transport 
Strategy approved as part of the outline planning permission and the 
Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework. Officers are concerned that the 
current proposed LUDP will result in higher levels of car ownership and use 
such that the modal shift expected to be achieved by the development will 
not be met. The proposed LUDP is therefore considered contrary to the 
policies of the Local Plan and could undermine the objectives of the delivery 
of the Core Strategy across the Borough. The proposal is considered to be a 
significant change to the outline planning permission which should require a 
fresh application.

6.35 An indicative revised Site Wide Master Plan has been submitted with the 
current application to amend the parameters and this indicates changes to 
the road network which are not in accordance with the approved Strategies 
under the outline planning permission. A road is no longer shown accessing 
onto Southfleet Road on the southern edge of the site.  As a result, this then 
focuses all cars onto Northern route, contrary to the approved Transport 
Strategy and principles of development and has the potential to provide a 
very convenient rat-run through the Quarry.

6.36 Although the amended Transport Strategy submitted with the application is 
for information only and does not form a document under consideration, 
there are some changes within the Strategy that could further undermine the 
planning permission and achievement of the Core Strategy objectives:
 The proposed Transport Strategy indicates that general traffic will be 

allowed onto Alkerden Lane.  The Council previously objected to this 
and it was removed from the Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework 
following the Council’s submission.

 The commitment to provide a crossing of Alkerden Road linking the 
open space in the quarry to Craylands Gorge is shown to be removed 
from the Transport Strategy. 

 The requirements for the access to Mounts Road are reduced with less 
traffic calming and no requirement for improved access to St Clements 
Way.

 There is no longer a requirement to have Public Transport serving the 
washmills, which officers consider would be important to serve the high 
density development that is now proposed there, in order to prevent 
this becoming completely car orientated. 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

7. S106

7.1  A note summarising the approach to the preparation of the s106 has been 
submitted with the current application. This reinforces officers’ concerns 
about the proposed changes to the planning permission via this application 
to vary condition 3. The applicant suggests that the s106 obligations be 
separated between the residential part of the site and the landowner of the 
commercial mixed use area. Planning decisions are made irrespective of 
land ownership and the original planning permission and s106 was formed to 
ensure delivery of the site even with multiple ownerships or developers. This 
was one of the key purposes of the strategies and conditions on the outline 
development to require various monitoring and co-ordinating processes to 
ensure a strategic approach to multi-ownership. Officers do not agree with 
the applicant’s suggestion that multi-ownership requires a new s106.  The 
objective of the development of Eastern Quarry is to provide a mixed use 
development where the retail, leisure and community uses serve the needs 
of the residents and workers in the development and come forward in an 
integrated way. If the s106 obligations on the commercial mixed use area 
are to be separated from the delivery of houses and community uses, this 
appears to support officers’ concerns that this mixed use commercial area is 
not intended to support local needs and the housing development. It would 
be difficult to ensure such uses are delivered as the development comes 
forward as a separate s106 and the landowner could not be tied to triggers 
and delivery through another s106 and landowner. The current Eastern 
Quarry Outline planning permission is a single permission to provide a new 
integrated community, the proposed changes to the s106 would undermine 
the integrated development and would be contrary to the objectives of the 
adopted Local Plan policy.

7.2 The s106 note also suggests that the triggers on the planning permission 
(and, by association, the strategies) would be amended. No details of this 
are provided and officers would have concerns that this could undermine the 
delivery of infrastructure to serve the development and the Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan which underpins the Local Plan. However, without further 
details it is difficult to comment further.

8. Other issues

8.1  A Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) has been submitted with the 
application to meet emerging Policy DP25 of the Development Policies Plan 
requiring large residential developments located within 10km of the North 
Kent European Protected Sites to undertake an HRA to demonstrate 
appropriate mitigation against any impacts on the protected sites. Officers 
have some concerns about the methodology of the HRA submitted and 
would seek further work on this by the applicants.

8.2 A revision to the approved Community Participation Strategy has been 
submitted for information with the application. This considerably reduces the 
requirements on the developer to build the community by involving them in 
the on-going development and now simply reflects normal planning 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

requirements. Officers consider that this is regrettable and, if agreed by the 
EDC, an obligation on the developers for on-going proactive engagement 
with the community to help build the new community will be lost.  This 
approach appears to be in conflict with the EDC’s commitment to ‘ensuring 
that growth is locally led’ (Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework, p16)

9. Concerns raised by Cabinet re the Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework

9.1  The planning statement supporting the current application lists the Ebbsfleet 
Implementation Framework as a material consideration. When considering 
this document at Cabinet on 26 January 2017 Members resolved to endorse 
the document but with primacy given to the Dartford Local Plan and 
Supplementary Planning Documents where there is a conflict between the 
documents.  It is appropriate that consideration of this application should be 
assessed against Dartford’s Local Plan.  However, it is notable that this 
application also appears to be in conflict with the EDC’s Implementation 
Framework, the purpose of which is to shape and support the EDC’s delivery 
work.

10. Conclusion

10.1 The proposals to vary the parameters for the outline planning permission 
and the land use disposition plan are considered to undermine the principles 
set by the outline planning permission to deliver an integrated development 
of high quality which provides for the needs of the new community and 
reduces car use. The proposals are therefore contrary to the adopted Local 
Plan policy and could undermine the delivery of the adopted Core Strategy.

10.2 Officers consider that the retention of the north-south cliff results in 
considerable socio-economic costs to the development, as it leads to: 
division of communities; fragmented community and commercial facilities 
removing the ability of these centres to create a strong sense of place; need 
for increased car use; Fastrack being located further from the communities it 
serves; increases the level of unusable open space with the development; 
and fails to provide direct pedestrian and cycle routes across much of the 
development. Officers consider that the cost of the removal of the cliff is 
necessary in order to achieve a successful integrated community at Eastern 
Quarry which meets the objectives of the Core Strategy.

10.3 It is considered that the proposed changes should not be dealt with as a 
minor amendment to the current permission under s73 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 but are both fundamental and substantial 
changes and in accordance with government advice a new planning 
application should be submitted.

11. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

11.1 To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all 
our communities.



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

12. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

13. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

14. Appendices

None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Planning application to 
the EDC ref 17/0048

S Bunn Planning, 
Regeneration

N/A

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None 
Risk Assessment None



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

RAIL CONSULTATIONS AND FUTURE INFRASTRUCTURE 

1. Summary

1.1 This report is produced in response to two related public consultations (Kent 
Area Route Study by Network Rail and South Eastern Rail Franchise by the 
Department for Transport) on the train network and rail services in the 
Borough. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the Council’s response to the Kent Area Route Study by Network Rail, 
as set out in the Appendix A to the report, be endorsed.

2.2 That the Council’s response to the South Eastern Rail Franchise by the 
Department for Transport, as set out in the Appendix B to the report, be 
endorsed.

2.3 That progress with partners in exploring a potential Crossrail extension east of 
Abbey Wood set out in paragraphs 3.7-3.9 of the report, be noted.

3. Background. 

3.1 Network Rail maintain and plan ahead for the fixed infrastructure of the 
railway network. It is consulting until 30 June 2017 on a draft ‘Kent Area 
Route Study’, a set of extensive technical documents covering the long-
term strategic investment options for railway routes in the region (in and 
around Kent). This includes services to several London stations, 
including Victoria, Charing Cross, Blackfriars, Cannon Street and 
London Bridge.

3.2 The South Eastern rail franchise is one of the largest in the UK and the 
current contract to run train services expires in December 2018. The 
government has set out consultation questions in order to inform its 
decisions over awarding the contract for the next train operator. This 
covers all domestic services in the Borough including the High Speed 1 
line from Ebbsfleet International. The Department for Transport has said 
it will accept comments from the Council by the deadline of 26 May 
2017. 

3.3 Dartford station has seen extensive passenger growth, and is the most 
popular station in the Borough and Kent on the North Kent Line from 
London to Medway towns. It and other stations on the line benefit from 
London-bound services to Victoria, Charing Cross, Waterloo East, 
London Bridge and Cannon Street. However, services from Dartford 
station operate at slow speeds, typically taking 45-50 minutes (or longer 
during peaks); to which allowance should be made for unscheduled 
delay. This compares unfavourably with alternatives; and can be 
compared against competitor locations that are a similar journey time 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

away, but located a greater distance from London. The south of the 
Borough is served from Farningham Road and Longfield stations to/from 
direct services to Victoria only in London (or Medway eastwards). 

3.4 Ebbsfleet International station within the Borough offers rapid 
connections to St Pancras International (and with London Underground 
services available from Stratford International).  However its use is 
currently hampered by capacity issues, a premium rate fare and parking 
regime, and poor local accessibility by foot or public transport. Actions by 
the Council, the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) and others 
will facilitate better use of the station, but national policy needs to 
address the service issues to maximise Dartford station’s potential as a 
rail hub.

3.5 Improvements to the rail network are in the pipeline. A Thameslink 
service will be introduced to the Borough in 2018. This will allow 
passengers from Dartford station for example to travel to 
northern/central London and destinations beyond e.g. Cambridge.

3.6 Passengers will also in future be able to access London Underground 
services on the new Crossrail (Elizabeth Line) route. This will require 
travel (8-12 minutes from Dartford station) via standard services to 
interchange at Abbey Wood. From December 2018, the new service will 
operate through Canary Wharf (11 minutes from Abbey Wood) and the 
stops to Paddington. Full services to Heathrow and Reading commence 
December 2019. 

3.7 Finally, it is relevant to highlight that Council officers are part of a 
partnership of organisations in London and Kent working on how to 
deliver better rail access in north Kent, building on the opening of 
Crossrail services to Abbey Wood – potentially in the form of a Crossrail 
extension through the Borough to Ebbsfleet or Gravesham. This is a 
complex undertaking with a range of technical considerations as well as 
the need to demonstrate a business case for the project to government.  

3.8 Although it remains ‘early days’ in making the full robust case to 
government, to summarise, Council officers currently consider the 
following potential net benefits could arise with Crossrail extending as far 
as Dartford station or beyond: 

 Increasing the extent to which passenger peak time demand to travel 
to/ from London can be accommodated, above that identified in the 
current rail consultations.  

 Reduced travel times, especially if journeys can be made in full by 
Crossrail. This issue for the Borough is not tackled in the current 
consultations.

 The overall prospect of a transformative upgrade in public transport in 
the Borough, particularly if some or all of the current North Kent line 
stations are upgraded, and services operate with a ‘turn up and go’ 
Underground-style frequency. 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

3.9 If a transformative upgrade in infrastructure were to prove achievable, 
this could unlock a series of sustainable development benefits. These 
include: attracting people to choose to travel by rail and not private car, 
improvements in the quality and viability of housing and economic 
development, and securing additional long-term benefits from the 
regeneration of Dartford town centre. Accordingly, it is considered that 
support for further exploring the potential for the Crossrail extension to 
Dartford and beyond should form an integral part of responses to the rail 
consultations.

4. Primary Concerns from the Consultations 

4.1 Railway services in Dartford share many problems of the system as a 
whole, such as growth in rail demand outstripping capacity, failures of 
punctuality and reliability, often ‘ageing’ rolling stock and 
stations/facilities, and very high fares for certain services. However there 
are a series of significant further issues in the Borough that must be 
taken on board, including:

 The need to provide an attractive, convenient, efficient and cost 
effective alternative to those currently travelling by private vehicle, 
given Dartford’s issues of congestion and air pollution.

 The necessity to accommodate the transport needs arising from major 
growth in new residents and businesses occurring in the Borough. This 
must be accounted for as an additional component of passenger 
growth, above and beyond the general uplift arising in rail travel 
nationally.

 In particular, the imperative to tackle the unacceptably slow journey 
times faced by passengers to central London and to maintain their 
choice of terminal destinations. This is essential to ensuring journeys 
are increasingly train based and eventually become more popular for 
regular journeys than vehicles.  Borough residents are above the 
national average in their tendency to travel to work by private vehicle 
and any reduction in the quality of service could exacerbate the 
situation.

Growth, connectivity and capacity:

4.2 The railway system as a whole needs to put forward proposals to secure 
and deliver in a timely way the investment necessary to meet the needs 
of the existing and future population of the Borough. 

4.3 The Route Study is based on blanket growth in passenger numbers of 
15% between 2011 and 2024, which it seeks to accommodate primarily 
through lengthening trains where possible. Passenger growth rates on 
High Speed 1 (HS1) domestic services and to 2044 are, however, 
assumed to be much greater. In the short term, some additional capacity 
on HS1 can be created through longer trains, if platforms can be 
extended where necessary.

4.4 However it appears that assumed growth rates have not fully accounted 
for the distribution of new development, and particularly the growth 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

commitments in Dartford Borough. In recent years the Borough has been 
achieving record levels of growth (c.1,000 new dwellings per annum) 
surpassing adjoining areas. This has primarily been driven by growth at 
the mixed use locations north of Dartford town of The Bridge and 
Northern Gateway (adjoining Dartford Station). Just to the south of this, 
substantial homes and jobs growth is now moving quickly forward as 
part of the regeneration of Dartford Town Centre. Accordingly, annual 
usage of Dartford station increased by half (a further one million trips) 
1997/98 – 2014/15.

4.5 The ‘past trend’ population projections, with no differentiated 
assumptions about growth according to location, will likely prove a 
significant under-estimate of the growth currently occurring in Dartford 
and likely to be sustained into the future.  In this context, proposals for 
marginally increased capacity (through ‘tinkering’ at the edges, for 
example though longer trains and platforms) are considered inadequate.  
The extent of current and future growth in and around Dartford station, 
as well as other North Kent line stations in the Borough does not appear 
to have been fully taken on board and consequently proposals to 
address this are inadequate.

4.6 The Route Study is open about the extensive challenges in providing for 
long-term demand. Without intervention and achieving major upgrades, 
there are acute issues ahead; most notably in the need for extra capacity 
at London’s terminals and removal of bottlenecks on route to them. 
Officers would contend that interventions under full consideration 
therefore must include options in relation to Crossrail extension. The 
concept is outlined in brief in the Route Study, and Network Rail is now 
part of the technical group looking at the project. However it is included 
as one of many third party proposals, many of which are not 
transformative of a whole sub-region.  The response, therefore, 
recommends that far greater weight be given to this proposal and its 
potential for transformative change is recognised.

4.7 The implications of growth at Ebbsfleet and the potential London Resort 
Theme Park are discussed in the Route Study; however it is considered 
the options outlined are generally skewed towards favourable 
assumptions reliant on contra-peak direction flows or off peak travel.

4.8 The Route Study identifies a positive long term option in the Borough to 
improve connectivity. This is to fully utilise the section of railway line that 
forks northwards (between Farningham Road and Longfield stations) 
from the London Victoria mainline services to Medway and beyond. This 
would loop up and provide direct access to Ebbsfleet International from 
the south, if a small section of track were constructed to complete the 
junction with the existing High Speed 1 line. 

4.9 Further exploration of this option is supported, as an additional to work in 
support of potential Crossrail extension (both schemes will improve 
interchange in the Ebbsfleet or Northfleet area). However, it is of 
concern that this is not being prioritised to support growth above other 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

schemes which appear to have less justification. The economic and 
transport benefits of significant enhancements in infrastructure and 
services in the Thames Gateway are regarded as deserving of high 
priority. This must be reflected in the options presented to decision 
makers and investors.

Reliability, journey time and stations: 

4.10 Reliability across the current South Eastern network has been in decline, 
and the Franchise consultation predominantly attributes this to the layout 
of the network: causing wider knock on impacts on other services when 
one service is late. However, there has been a reduction in failures of 
junctions and signals (etc.) and further investment is projected.

4.11 The potential to consolidate the very complex pattern of service 
operation in southern London is therefore raised. This is seen as 
necessary to improve the timetable of services and to enhance reliability. 
However, the outcome of this would be a diminution of choice of terminal 
destinations for the Borough’s rail users. The Franchise consultation 
gives the example of focusing some current services from Dartford 
station to London Cannon Street only. 

4.12 This is unacceptable and it is recommended that such proposals are 
strongly objected to. Careful consideration must be given to the impact 
of such changes on the attractiveness of Dartford as a location for 
investment and thereby, the impact on planned and prospective 
development in and around Dartford town centre.  It would hit existing 
public transport users, creating daily inconvenience and exacerbating 
the current long journey times. Passengers would face new or longer 
segments in their journeys thereby increasing rail or Underground 
overcrowding on other parts of the network. Such change will reduce rail 
journey convenience and discourage the modal shift from car journeys 
which is required to achieve sustainable growth.  

4.13 It is proposed that, rather than planning for a worsened service in the 
area providing less choice, the emphasis should be on a transformative 
solution that makes public transport more attractive, namely a 
prospective Crossrail extension.

4.14 It is also very disappointing that the Route Study does not recognise 
serious issues with the capacity and use-ability of North Kent line 
stations in the Borough.  These issues are already evident but will 
become exacerbated with further growth.  They include congestion on 
the stairways and overhead corridor at Dartford Station, lack of disabled 
access and road safety issues in exiting the station at Swanscombe and 
difficulties in gaining access to and from Stone Crossing station across 
the railway line, and for onward modes of travel.

4.15 There is a limited response to these issues.  Action in relation to over-
crowding at Dartford station may not occur until 2044, and no mention is 
made in relation to Swanscombe, and Stone Crossing stations. If 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

Crossrail were extended parallel to the north Kent line, new station 
facilities would be required and this would provide a solution.  However, 
these issues should be addressed irrespective of a decision on the 
Crossrail extension, as use of these stations will increase nonetheless.

4.16 These matters are particularly concerning given that no direct account 
appears to have been taken of the particular scale of growth job/ 
housing/ leisure growth anticipated in and around these locations.  For 
example, Swanscombe will be the closest station to the proposed leisure 
resort, projected to open in 2022. Whilst it is likely that Ebbsfleet Station 
will be marketed as the main arrival point for visitors, local employees 
and visitors that know the area will, undoubtedly use Swanscombe 
station as the more convenient point of arrival. Swanscombe Station in 
its current form and location simply does not meet the requirements of a 
safe, modern public transport facility. 

Other issues: 

4.17 Objection is also raised to the consultations on basis of the need to do 
more to improve services. For example customers travelling in the 
Borough expect better ticketing to become more widely available, and for 
anomalies in the fares regime to be tackled. 

4.18 The position on the Howbury Park ‘Rail Freight Interchange’ planning 
application is set out in responding to the consultation; not least it would 
generate a further engineering challenge for any Crossrail extension. 
This proposal straddling the boundary with Bexley London Borough was 
not supported by the Council, including for reasons of adverse traffic and 
air quality impacts given its highway freight transportation implications. 

5. Conclusion

5.1 Like the Council as planning authority, the Department for Transport and 
Network Rail are charged with the task of delivering infrastructure and 
services to support sustainable growth and the national economy. These 
draft proposals documents are vital to ensuring the transport network in 
the Borough meets current and future passenger expectations. 

5.2 Dartford has planned for, and is achieving, substantial housing and jobs 
growth. However this is placed at risk by the unacceptable time lag in the 
rail industry reacting to growth with suitable measures in a timely way.   
The current consultation appears to be based on an insufficient 
understanding of future growth and its location.  In doing so, it is likely to 
perpetuate past trends of investment being too late in the day to address 
capacity and congestion problems as they occur. Such an approach is 
not conducive to sustainable growth and will not result in efficient and 
attractive public transport options.

5.3 The consultation documents, and particularly the infrastructure options 
emerging from the Route Study, are welcome. Nevertheless, given 
existing major current issues, and adverse implications of the potential 



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

future measures, including reduction in choice of destinations from 
Dartford stations, substantive objections have to be raised. 

5.4 Without major action - possibly akin to a project such as Crossrail 
extension to Dartford Borough or alternatives - there is grave concern 
over the difficulties set out in meeting rail passenger demand post 2024. 
In any event it is expected the documents must tackle the current and 
immediate problems facing existing and future residents and businesses 
in the Borough.

6. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

6.1 To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to 
all of our communities. 

6.2 To promote an environment which is attractive, adapted to climate 
change and which provides a realistic choice of travel options

7. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications No implications of responding to the consultation. 

Legal Implications No implications of responding to the consultation.

Staffing Implications No implications of responding to the consultation.

Administrative Implications No implications of responding to the consultation.

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

8. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

9. Appendices

Appendix A: Kent Area Route Study by Network Rail: Response by the 
Council 

Appendix B: South Eastern Rail Franchise by the Department for Transport: 
Response by the Council 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Mark Aplin 
(01322) 343202

Planning Policy, 
Regeneration 
Services

N/A





APPENDIX A

1

Kent Area Route Study – Response by Dartford Borough Council

1. Dartford Borough Infrastructure Context 

1.1 Dartford Borough Council welcomes the opportunity to comment on the draft ‘South East 
Route: Kent Area Route Study’ (March 2017) document.  Network Rail will be aware that 
Dartford Council works closely with partners (including Kent County Council and the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation) to ensure the transport system of North Kent supports the integral 
national role the area is playing in delivering major economic development and substantial 
housing growth. Dartford Council is the statutory strategic planning authority for the Borough, 
including all the applicable area at Ebbsfleet.

1.2 As part of our concern is to ensure the long-term development of the Borough is sustainable, 
and integrated with investment in public transport, Dartford is a founder member of the 
Crossrail to Gravesend group. This group of authorities and public/ private partnership 
representatives from London and Kent are exploring the potential to extend Crossrail 
(Elizabeth Line) services from the line currently under construction at Abbey Wood towards 
Kent (Dartford and Ebbsfleet/Gravesham). A Network Rail representative (Alex Hellier) has 
now joined the working group.

1.3 Dartford Borough Council recognises the advantages of forward planning through the Route 
Study. However we have a number of concerns that local growth that is already underway/ 
committed may not be fully accounted for in the Route Study, and major reservations over the 
uncertainty as to how an efficient and attractive railway network will be provided in the 
period post 2024. It is disappointing that after an initial discussion, and Network Rail being 
supplied with local aggregate growth levels, no further specific dialogue has occurred with 
Dartford in relation to planning for increased transport demand. The Council would like to 
explain further the development of the Borough and work with Network Rail more closely in 
future.

1.4 Key existing problems with services include problems on heavily used and popular services 
such as Dartford on the North Kent Line (which suffers from major capacity and reliability 
issues), slow journey times from Dartford to London given the distance, difficulties in using 
High Speed services (due to the cost and lack of capacity of services and the huge difficulty in 
public transport interchange at Ebbsfleet International); plus problems at other stations  in 
Dartford that have seen major development in the area surrounding the station but no 
investment at all in station and infrastructure  facilities.

1.5 We note that within the Market Studies from 2013 used to understand future demand, the 
highest overall growth scenario was used. However it is unclear whether this data uses local 
spatial information, or will prompt actions to address the level of growth in Dartford Borough. 
Our adopted Core Strategy is still fully applicable and provides for a 43% growth in households 
(2006-2026) and over 20,000 jobs in the period. This growth is on track to be achieved. The 
Borough is a net importer of labour (see 2011 census) due to large employer locations such as 
Bluewater, Crossways Business Park and Darenth Valley Hospital serving Kent and London. 



APPENDIX A

2

These all have potential for further employment intensification; and thousands of further 
additional jobs are anticipated in and around Ebbsfleet International Station. 

1.6 In recent years the Borough has been achieving over 1,000 new dwellings per annum, 
dwarfing growth in other adjoining areas. This has primarily been driven by growth at the 
mixed use locations north of Dartford town of The Bridge and Northern Gateway (adjoining 
Dartford Station). Just to the south of this, substantial homes and jobs growth is now moving 
quickly forward as part of the regeneration of Dartford Town Centre. Therefore the high levels 
of current and future growth in the Borough is largely concentrated on the north Kent from 
Dartford station, through Stone and Greenhithe towards Swanscombe (and Ebbsfleet). A 
central part of accommodating this growth is delivering on the substantial modal shift 
expected with new development, and the Council expects to work with all transport partners, 
including Network Rail and the train operating company, to ensure the current performance 
of existing railway lines is optimised and sufficient additional infrastructure and service 
provision is made. 

2. Main comments

2.1 Given immediate issues of over-crowding, Dartford Council welcomes the plans to provide 
additional capacity for the shorter term where possible, for example through enabling longer 
trains. However this may be insufficient even within the timescale set out. It is evident to the 
Council, with its understanding of growth in the Thames Gateway, that more substantive hard 
infrastructure investment must be made as a priority to expand the network and enhance 
long-term capacity. 

Crossrail

2.2 Whilst it remains ‘early days’ in making the full robust case to government, Dartford officers 
currently consider the following potential net benefits should be explored through Crossrail 
extension as far as Dartford station and beyond: 

 Increasing the extent to which passenger peak time demand to travel to/ from London can 
be accommodated. Dartford’s adopted growth plan extends beyond the point to which the 
Route Study has sought to identify additional capacity (2024); certain large current planning 
permissions will be delivering major growth into the late 2020s/beyond. 

 Reduction in the current lengthy travel times, plus services operating with a ‘turn up and go’ 
Underground-style frequency. 

 Much needed upgrades to stations and rolling stock across the growth corridor through 
Dartford to Ebbsfleet.

2.3 The Crossrail extension project is referred to in neutral tones within the Route Strategy 
(5.12.8-5.12.12). Dartford Council is concerned in relation to its inclusion only as a ‘third party’ 
project in the current draft, and we seek that a clear distinction be made with schemes that 
demonstrably perform less well against national government priorities. It is of concern that 
the project is not being prioritised to support growth above other more aspirational projects 
in the document that are not closely aligned with major growth locations.



APPENDIX A

3

2.4 The economic and transport benefits of significant enhancements in infrastructure and 
services in the Thames Gateway are regarded as meriting high priority. This must be reflected 
in the options presented to decision makers and investors.

Ebbsfleet Southern Link

2.5 The Council supports further exploration of the “Ebbsfleet Southern Link” option to promote 
connectivity in the Borough, as addition to work in support of potential Crossrail extension 
(both schemes will review improve interchange in the Ebbsfleet or Northfleet area).

Addressing High Growth 

2.6 We are also concerned over the commentary provided on page 35 of the draft Route Study in 
relation to development in the north Kent area:

 It appears no regard has been had to the high levels of growth within Dartford Borough 
outside of the Ebbsfleet area. Of the most recent year’s very high levels of housing 
completions, 80% were in the Borough outside the Ebbsfleet area – predominantly 
in/around Dartford town.  There is large-scale further planned and potential growth in and 
around the town centre and this would be boosted by a Crossrail extension.  The thousands 
of homes forthcoming in Dartford should be fully addressed, not least given the demand for 
rail services arising from the particularly high profile under-performance of the highway 
network in Dartford.

 Only the third of the scenarios briefly outlined for Ebbsfleet (3.10.12) is considered tenable, 
resulting in increased demand for travel to London. Ebbsfleet residents will not all work 
locally, not least given the profile of local job provision and the price of the brand new 
homes being provided. It is equally unreasonable to assume Ebbsfleet jobs will all be of a 
type that will be wholly filled by people in Kent substituting employment there for their 
current London job.

 London Resort Theme Park (3.10.13- 3.10.15): it cannot be presumed trips by employees (or 
visitors) will neatly avoid peak times or travel contraflow. Moreover, the Route Study needs 
to take on board the direct implications for the nearest station (Swanscombe –see below).

2.7 Objection is made to the lack of clear plans set out in current consultations for upgrading 
stations to address future capacity as well as dealing with the current inadequacies of the 
stations and providing a safe, accessible and modern standard expected by current and 
prospective customers. The contrast in quality of stations with ones upgraded by Transport for 
London not so far away is stark.

2.8 The Route Study (3.16) recognises the importance of station upgrades given the increasing 
passenger circulation issues arising. It is highly disappointing that not only is Dartford station 
not recognised as a priority until 2024 to 2044 (Figure 3.15), despite current concerns over not 
only its convenience but its safety. The refurbishment of the forecourt did not benefit the 
bridge and steps to the platforms which are extremely narrow relative to the volume of 
passenger flows. At peak times, congestion on stairs raises safety concerns.  With projected 
growth in and around the station, it is likely that the station concourse will suffer from 
capacity constraints.  



APPENDIX A

4

2.9 Dartford Borough Council also objects that no other stations in the Borough are identified at 
all, despite the Theme Park due to open by 2022 and the scale of existing issues at 
Swanscombe, where platforms are only accessed by long steep sets of steps. At Stone 
Crossing are a number of issues to do with the current station and its location. These matters 
are particularly concerning given that it does not appear that full account has been taken of 
the particular scale of growth job/ housing growth anticipated in and around these locations. 
For example, Swanscombe will be the closest station to the proposed leisure resort, projected 
to open in 2022. Whilst it is likely that Ebbsfleet Station will be marketed as the main arrival 
point for visitors, local employees and visitors that know the area will, undoubtedly use 
Swanscombe station as the more convenient point of arrival. Swanscombe Station in its 
current form and location simply does not meet the requirements of a safe, modern public 
transport facility. 

2.10 Additionally, Network Rail should be advised, and reflect in the final Route Study, that 
Dartford Borough Council refused permission for the Howbury Park development (5.14.5-
5.14.6) in April 2017. Consideration was given to the ‘in principle’ potential benefits 
recognised in national policy of well-located full interchange facilities.  However air quality and 
traffic impacts cannot be satisfactorily mitigated. Officers are also aware of the potential for 
the proposed development to generate an additional hurdle in providing the infrastructure 
upgrade necessary on the tracks west of Dartford station, and the potential further 
impediment to a Crossrail extension.

2.11  Finally but not least, Dartford Council would like to confirm that it strongly objects to any 
“simplification” of services that cuts the choice of destinations for existing passengers. The 
Franchise consultation suggests focusing some current services from Dartford station on 
London Cannon Street only. This is unacceptable. Careful consideration must be given to the 
impact of such changes on the attractiveness of Dartford as a location for investment and 
thereby, the impact on planned and prospective development in and around Dartford town 
centre.  It would hit existing public transport users, creating daily inconvenience and 
exacerbating the current long journey times. Passengers would face new or longer parts to 
their journeys thereby increasing rail or underground overcrowding on other parts of the 
network. Such change will reduce rail journey convenience and discourage the modal shift 
from car journeys which is required to achieve sustainable growth.  

2.12  It is proposed that, rather than planning for a worsened service in the area providing less 
choice, the emphasis should be on a transformative solution that makes public transport more 
attractive, namely a prospective Crossrail extension.

2.13  Moreover it would extend journey times when services from Dartford station already operate 
at slow speeds, typically taking 45-50 minutes (or longer during peaks). Reduction in travel 
times and providing a convenient service is essential to ensuring journeys are increasingly 
train based and eventually become more popular for regular journeys than vehicles (Borough 
residents are above the national average in their tendency to travel to work by private 
vehicle). 



APPENDIX A

5

3. Conclusion 

3.1 Dartford Council is willing to work with Network Rail to deliver the government’s 
requirements for provision of infrastructure and growth. This has been expressed as follows1: 
“The Government's vision for transport is for a low carbon sustainable transport system 
that is an engine for economic growth, but is also safer and improves the quality of life in 
our communities”. 

3.2 The Council considers that major rail infrastructure investment is required in the Borough in 
order to accommodate the very high growth levels that are on track to be achieved.  The need 
for this is already evident in problems in the satisfactory functioning of stations in the 
Borough. Moreover the full range of issues are not currently grasped in the Route Study, 
particularly how a timely response will be achieved to existing and future growth pressures, 
especially beyond 2024. Working with Network Rail, Dartford Council believes a 
transformative upgrade in infrastructure should proactively be taken forward to unlock a 
series of sustainable development benefits and ensure objectives for the Thames Gateway can 
be fulfilled. Accordingly, it is considered that the role of exploring the potential of a Crossrail 
extension or similar project should form an integral of the Route Study; and building on the 
better utilisation of existing infrastructure through the Ebbsfleet Southern Link. 

3.3 Such an approach is required to relieve pressure on existing infrastructure and services. It is 
therefore considered to represent a potential solution to the acute economic development 
and transport challenges recognised. The Council has set out herein, and would like to make 
the case further, in relation to how it is meeting national priorities for development; but such 
a solution is needed to address identified transport problems by substantial direct benefits 
but also by unlocking terminal capacity and lines such as the North Kent service, plus enabling 
the High Speed One line to be used to its optimum functionality and purpose, to the benefit 
of all current and future passengers across the Kent area. 

1  National Policy Statement for National Networks (DfT, 2014) para. 2.53.





APPENDIX B

1

South Eastern Franchise: Dartford Borough Council Response

1. Do our priorities correctly 
reflect your views?

As set out, priorities for service operation must include trains 
running on time, tackling cancellations, reduced journey times and 
improved passenger satisfaction and communication with them 
(particularly when things go wrong).  Journey times in Dartford are 
very long on all North Kent Line services (despite the short distance 
to London terminals), and reliability is poor for all services in the 
Borough.
Yet to correctly reflect Dartford’s views greater consideration is 
needed, in parallel with Network Rail’s Route Study, as to how to 
cater for increasing demand. The Borough is delivering very high 
growth levels in line with government policy but the quantity and 
quality of rail services are unable to keep up with demand, 
exacerbating the major road congestion in the area.
It is not apparent there has been sufficient understanding of future 
growth in the region and the extent to which this is being 
accommodated by locations in Dartford.  You therefore risk 
perpetuating past trends of investment being too late in the day to 
drive modal shift and address capacity/congestion problems as they 
occur.  
It is also disappointing that serious issues with the capacity and use-
ability of North Kent line stations in the Borough are not recognised.  
These issues are already evident but will become exacerbated with 
further growth.  
Dartford believes that rather than changes such as reducing the 
choice of terminals in the name of ‘simplicity’, a transformative 
approach is required by the government and rail industry to help 
deliver the planned and prospective economic and housing growth 
through an efficient and attractive modern public transport facility, 
one that offers service levels that will push modal shift in Dartford 
and provide a real choice to vehicular transport.
As set out in the consultation document, full advantage should be 
taken of the Elizabeth Line (under construction to Abbey Wood). 
Dartford considers that ultimately this requires full consideration of 
the transport and regenerative benefits of a scheme extending the 
benefits of Crossrail out from Abbey Wood, through Dartford and to 
Ebbsfleet (or Gravesham). The council is working with partners in 
London and Kent including TfL and Network Rail to this end, and we 
would implore the DfT to give serious consideration to this project 
and the transport/ modal shift and economic benefits that would 
arise.

2. Do you agree that more 
space is needed for 
passengers at the busiest 
times of the day?

Yes greater capacity is clearly needed in the Borough, to support 
existing demand and our major growth areas including Dartford town 
centre and Ebbsfleet. As set out above, it is apparent from the Route 
Study that a long term approach is needed to create significant extra 
capacity above and beyond projections to 2024.
It is unclear to what extent the accelerated and significant planned 
growth in Dartford Borough, both in the Ebbsfleet area and outside 



APPENDIX B

2

it, has been taken into account in setting out the Government’s 
ambitions in the document.   It is implied that the expectation of 
future demand is based on recent experience of growth in passenger 
demand, which will have been influenced by a period when new 
development levels have generally been at a lower level than that 
now being experienced in Dartford.   Government is asked to review 
the document in light of the increasing and unprecedented rates of 
housing delivery in Dartford and the extent of planned growth in SE 
network’s area, including the potential for a large tourist attraction 
being created at Swanscombe Peninsula.  It is essential that 
prospective operators have a clear understanding of existing and 
trend based demands together with demand arising from the high 
level of projected growth and trip generating proposals.  Such an 
understanding would be beneficial to securing an improved SE 
service in the future.  The Council is willing to work with the 
Department for Transport to provide up-to-date and well-informed 
data on future development and growth to assist with this exercise.

3. What comments, if any, 
do you have on options for 
providing more space 
through: a) Longer trains; 
and b) Metro style carriages 
with larger entrances and 
more standing room and 
handholds?

Overall, particularly taking into account  the level  and acceleration of 
planned growth in population in Dartford and the likely subsequent 
significant growth in demand, together with the critical need to 
achieve modal shift from car to sustainable travel,  the broad 
objectives set out in the SE document are supported.  However 
taking into account planned growth, particularly at Dartford Town 
Centre, Ebbsfleet Garden City, and in the wider North Kent and 
Bexley area, the proposal to extend the Elizabeth Line beyond Abbey 
Wood should be given more emphasis as a longer term scheme to 
provide much needed additional capacity and meet increasing 
demand. 
It is critical that the operator alongside Network Rail, takes account 
of this longer term project and accommodates short term actions 
and longer term planning into strategies and work programmes.  
The document does not explore or identify other capacity building 
measures such as working with growth areas, such as at Dartford 
town and Ebbsfleet where there has been a long term ambition for a 
significant employment hub, with outline planning consent in place 
to enable this scale of commercial development to take place.   This 
would enable a step change in the SE rail network from one almost 
wholly concentrated on transporting people in one direction during 
peak hours to and from London to termini which are unable to 
accommodate the increasing numbers of passengers, to one where 
train capacity and stations could be fully utilised during peak periods 
through contra-flow movement on what would otherwise be empty 
trains, to important employment hubs outside of London, such as 
Ebbsfleet.  An approach encouraging contra-flow movement will, 
however, only be successful if there is a high quality, convenient 
service with a good choice of starting points and routes.  In the 
absence of this, the car may well prove more attractive, given 
reduced road congestion levels in making these contra-flow journeys

4. Would you support 
removing First Class seating 
on the busiest routes to 

We consider a more ambitious response to create capacity should be 
taken.



APPENDIX B

3

provide more space?
5. What comments, if any, 
do you have on our plans to 
improve customer service 
and the overall passenger 
experience?

We understand scheduled journey times, overcrowding, 
punctuality, and quality of rolling stock and stations to be of 
concern to local passengers. 

6. Do you have any other 
ideas or priorities for 
improving customer service?

It is important that rail travel is integrated into wider sustainable 
transport options available to passengers, in order to provide a 
seamless travelling experience.  Smart Card technology used on SE 
services should be expected to work with other sustainable 
transport initiatives, as far as possible, such as Kent County Council’s 
work on smart cards for bus services in Kent.   Consideration of 
possible integration is additionally needed for passengers using 
Dartford station, as they are able to use TfL’s Oyster card for rail 
journeys but this does not extend to use on local bus services.   
Technology initiatives should also include electronic communication 
regarding bus and rail service information to encourage greater use 
of sustainable travel modes, especially at key transport nodes such as 
Dartford Station, Fastrack and bus services into the town centre. 

7. What changes to the fares 
structure would be of 
benefit to you?

Fares are too high overall to promote much needed modal shift to 
trains. There are some specific issues such as the cost of peak travel, 
and the premium for travel on the High Speed 1 line (which must 
ultimately be removed). 
Furthermore, anomalies to ticketing must be removed including 
large discrepancies in  season ticket cost between two station close 
to each other, for example Greenhithe and Swanscombe, where 
there is a £500 differential.  

8. What else could be done 
to improve the way tickets 
are sold and provided?

Dartford objects to the current arrangements. It is suggested the lack 
of flexibility of ticketing for regular travellers is a particular and 
growing concern for customers. The government must promote 
flexible working in order to best use infrastructure, promote 
digitisation and boost productivity through encouraging businesses 
to promote family friendly working.  Season tickets (e.g. monthly 
purchases) may offer no discount to the high level peak fares unless 
travelling every working day of the week. This must end to 
incentivise some working at home for instance. A carnet style ticket 
should be available, with much more flexibility than say an annual 
seasonal ticket (and better reflecting modern employment trends 
such as short-term contracting).

9. What further comments, 
if any, do you have on our 
plans to improve access and 
facilities at stations?

Dartford has planned for, and is achieving, substantial housing and 
jobs growth, based on a significant switch towards public transport. 
However this is placed at risk by quantitative and qualitative issues 
on the rail network, with poor station performance and 
attractiveness making current and future customers feel facilities are 
unpleasant and sometimes unusable. Such an approach is not 
conducive to sustainable growth and will not result in efficient and 
attractive public transport options. Stations strongly influence 
perceptions of whether a modern and efficient railway systems is 
available.
Dartford is very disappointed by the lack of improvement at stations 



APPENDIX B

4

despite major growth in usage and revenues. We object to the 
paucity of specific proposals for stations, including within the Route 
Study (which only highlights Dartford station itself and possibly not 
until 2044). Improved communication, safety, accessibility, toilets, 
and provision for cyclists is needed now, and major remodelling of 
whole facilities will be necessary given the growth being seen at 
stations in the Borough. 

10. What more could be 
done to improve access and 
provide facilities for those 
with disabilities or additional 
needs?

A number of our stations are not accessible for the disabled. In 
particular Swanscombe station needs urgent attention given its very 
long flight of steps to access either platform, and also with plans for 
large job and housing developments in the immediate area e.g. 
nearest station to the London Resort Theme Park proposal, due 
open in 2022 and anticipated to generate very significant 
employment volumes.

11. How far do you support, 
or oppose, the extension of 
High Speed services from 
London St. Pancras to 
Hastings, Bexhill, and Rye, 
where this would represent 
value for money to the 
taxpayer?

Whilst understanding the objective behind this, there are concerns 
that this will not assist with the acute difficulty faced by those 
attempting to travel between Ebbsfleet International and St Pancras 
at peak times due to overcrowding.

13. If you support this 
proposal, which services do 
you think would most 
benefit from this approach?

N/A

14. Which journeys do you 
make today which are 
difficult? a) By rail? b) By 
road, which would be easier 
by rail?

Extensive documentation has and is being put to government by 
this Council and partners in relation to the difficulties of travel by 
both road and rail in the Borough.  This includes in support of the 
Lower Thames Crossing and overall resilience and congestion issues, 
including on the four lane each way A2 (where there is clear scope 
for modal shift if our rail services had greater capacity and appeal for 
commuters). And it includes in the case being prepared for Crossrail 
extension (or equivalent transformative intervention) which could 
enhance capacity but also address issues such as the need to rebuild 
stations at Stone Crossing, Swanscombe and elsewhere, and the 
physical challenges of accessing Ebbsfleet International services from 
settlements in north Kent. 

15. Which additional 
services would you wish to 
see provided in the next 
franchise?

A range of new services are required throughout all hours, and to 
better use existing infrastructure and all stations, to accommodate 
the growth outlined above. Integrated services on public transport 
should not only consider the different legs of journeys undertake 
through various rail routes, but also the role of cycling and buses 
(including North Kent’s growing Fastrack network) and improved 
interchanges between the forms of transport

16. How far do you support, 
or oppose, options to 
simplify the timetable?

Strongly object. Whilst additional capacity and frequency is 
necessary, this should not be at the cost of choice of destinations. 

17. How far do you support, 
or oppose, options to 
reduce the choice of central 

This is strongly opposed. It would result in disruption to many 
Dartford residents and would have adverse knock on impacts on 
promoting public transport.  



APPENDIX B

5

London destinations served 
from individual stations with 
the aim of providing a more 
regular, evenly spaced 
timetable, and a more 
reliable service?

It would exacerbate the current long journey times, with passengers 
facing new or longer parts to their journeys and probably increasing 
rail or Underground overcrowding. More transformative investment 
is required instead.

18. How far do you support, 
or oppose, plans for the 
train operator and Network 
Rail to form a close alliance 
with the aim of reducing 
delays and improving 
performance?

This is supported to reduce delays - particularly through genuine 
partnership working between Operator and Network Rail to ensure 
improved punctuality; further details on this should be made 
available, especially if this approach is being used to reject other 
means of delivering significant service improvements that could 
actually warrant consideration/further exploration (e.g. 
‘metroisation’).
Fundamentally, it is vital that there is consistency between the 
initiatives being advocated to the service operator and those long-
term actions being proposed through Network Rail’s Route Study.

19. What are your views on 
how this alliance should be 
incentivised and held to 
account for its 
performance?

Clear actions to be secured with appropriate performance indicators, 
and major penalties should be imposed for under delivery.

20. How would you prefer 
the next South Eastern 
operator to engage with 
you: a) As an individual? b) 
As an organisation (if 
appropriate)

There should be direct engagement with Local Planning Authorities in 
Kent that are delivering major growth (notably Dartford); it cannot 
be assumed that Kent County Council can ‘speak for’ the Borough on 
sustainable travel or have detailed knowledge of the transport 
demand challenges or travel solutions ahead.
The next operator should contact Officers to discuss how they can 
engage with the Council as a whole and the best way to form a 
dialogue with Members/Officers in order that growth in Dartford be 
properly articulated in infrastructure investment decisions.

21. What approaches to 
customer service in other 
companies could be adopted 
by the next South Eastern 
train operator?

N/A

22. Where do you think 
private sector investment 
would be of most benefit to 
the railway?

The role of the private sector is being given close consideration in 
demonstrating the economic and transport benefits of an extension 
of Crossrail eastwards to Dartford and Ebbsfleet (or Gravesham).

23. Should we consider 
using the more lightly used 
sections of the railway in a 
different way? If so, how 
should this be done?

The proposal in the Route Study to link Ebbsfleet International 
southwards to existing track feeding onto the Victoria mainline (west 
of Farningham Road station) is considered worth further 
investigation to provide much needed additional connectivity. 

24. Looking to future, 
beyond this franchise, what, 
if any, benefits do you 
consider there would be for 
passengers from a franchise 
with a different geographical 
boundary?

Passengers should benefit from government policy and a structure of 
rail industry that integrates transport modes, and is not fragmented 
between organisations or administrative geography. The necessity 
is particularly strong to achieve the ambitions for the Thames 
Gateway to play a national role in driving economic growth.
There is particular concern in Dartford that whilst the Borough is 
achieving levels of growth in excess of nearby London Boroughs, 



APPENDIX B

6

transport arrangements are less well funded and coordinated than 
within the London administrative boundary.



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
13 JUNE 2017

CORPORATE PLAN – PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the latest set of Corporate Plan performance indicators 
for quarter 4 of 2016-17.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the Performance Indicators Monitoring 
Report attached at Appendix A.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Dartford Borough Council’s Corporate Plan 2014–17 includes a set of 
performance indicators relating to the Council’s own service 
performance and the wider performance of the Borough.

3.2. This latest Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, attached at 
Appendix A, includes baseline data for 2014-15 and 2015-16, and data 
for the four quarters of 2016-17.

3.3. The indicators either present data only or they have targets assigned to 
them. Most indicators report quarterly but some indicators may report 
annually, and these have been identified in the report.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable



CABINET
25 MAY 2017

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
13 JUNE 2017

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 2014-2017 Sarah Williamson
(01322) 343470

Policy and 
Corporate Support

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



1

APPENDIX A
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2014-17

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q4 2016-17

Performance Indicator Status
 Data Only

 OK

 Warning

 Alert

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Community Infrastructure Levy Income                                                                                                                                                                                               Source: DBC Planning/PPI29
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

              2014-15    
              Result            £55,575
              2015-16
              Result          £614,339

               Result           £2,061,024
                     (Figure is rounded)

               Q1                   £243,668
               Q2                   £832,412
               Q3                   £420,623
               Q4                   £564,321
                          

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been applied to eligible development since April 2014. 
During quarter 4 of 2016-17, payments have been made by development at five sites. CIL payment 
levels have risen significantly this year compared to earlier years. This is because developments 
granted planning consent after the introduction of CIL, have commenced development, and therefore 
are required to pay the charge. In total, just over £2.0m has been received by the Council during the 
financial year 2016-17, far exceeding previous annual CIL income. 15% of the revenue generated from 
CIL liable developments in a local area, will be passed to town/parish councils and local 
neighbourhoods and a further proportion of the total CIL revenue will be used for administrative costs. 
Work is underway to identify potential future infrastructure projects where the Council may choose to 
apply CIL income, and proposals will be submitted to Members during 2017-18. 

Projected planning fee income for the year                                                                                                                           Source: DBC Planning/PPI31
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

              2014-15
              Projection    £546,840
              Actual          £553,058
              2015-16
              Projection    £446,840
              Actual          £626,790

               Projection         £446,840
               Actual               £549,559

               Q1 Projection   £111,711 
               Q1 Actual         £148,301
               Q2 Projection   £223,422
               Q2 Actual         £299,396
               Q3 Projection   £335,133
               Q3 Actual         £491,715
               Q4 Projection   £446,840
               Q4 Actual         £549,559

Fees were lower after Christmas but picked up again during March and remained consistent even 
without the submission of any significant large applications. At the end of the period fee income was 
approximately £100,000 above projected income.



2

OVERALL BOROUGH INDICATORS
Overall business birth/death rate                                                                                                                                Source: ONS Business Demography/BI1

2012 to 2014 2015
              2012  
              Births                    480
              Deaths                  385                 
              2013  
              Births                    605
              Deaths                  350
              2014
              Births                    630
              Deaths                  385

                Births                      735
                Deaths                    395

The Business Demography data set refers to new business registrations as business births. Businesses 
that have ceased to trade (identified through de-registration of the administrative units, that is, VAT and 
PAYE) are referred to as business deaths.

There continues to be more business birth rates than business death rates in the Borough. Business 
birth rates in 2015 are up by 16.66% from 2014. Business death rates in 2015 are up by 2.6% from 
2014. In Kent overall (KCC area), the business birth rate in 2015 was 8,335 compared to 7,680 in 
2014. The overall business death rate in Kent in 2014 was 5,785 compared to 5,750 in 2014. (Annual 
Indicator – next data due Nov 2017)  

District wide unemployment rate                                                                                                                                      Source: NOMIS Claimant Count/BI2
Jan 2014 Mar 2017

              Result              2.1%                Result                   1.2%                  
                   

There were 815 unemployed people in the Borough in March 2017, which represents an unemployment 
rate of 1.2%. There was a 0.6% increase in the unemployment rate since February 2017. In Kent overall 
(KCC area), the unemployment rate in March 2017 was 1.7%.

Town centre average footfall                                                                                                                                   Source: DBC Town Centre Management/BI3
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

              2014-15
              Result           117,365
              2015-16
              Result           107,638

                 Result              122,143

                 Q1                    133,071
                 Q2                   137,875
                 Q3                   107,779
                 Q4                     97,568                   

Average town centre footfall for the period 02 January to 02 April was 97,568 and footfall for the year to 
date is 4.8% up on the previous year. Thursday and Saturday remain the busiest days.

Number of new homes built                                                                                                                                                        Source: DBC Planning/BI4
2013-14 and 2014-15 2016-17

                2013-14
                Result                  602
               2014-15

                Result                  565
                2015-16
                Result                  971

                 Result                 1,162                         
For the second year running, there has been a consistently high delivery level of around 1,000 homes, 
following the previous 9 year period which averaged 477 new homes per annum. Following the slow 
delivery in the recession and post-recession years, these higher levels of delivery are putting the 
Council back on track to achieve the Core Strategy targets.  

The highest number of homes were delivered at the Northern Gateway (272 homes), and at The Bridge 
(243 homes), as well as St Clements Lakes (176 homes).  

There were 214 homes delivered in the EDC area of Dartford, on the Eastern Quarry and Ebbsfleet 
Green sites, comprising 18% of delivery in Dartford as a whole. Delivery levels in the EDC area are 
expected to increase as construction activity on these two large sites gets into full swing.

The outlook for next year’s delivery looks positive, with the large sites continuing to deliver, a very 
healthy pipeline of sites with planning consent and an expected uplift of delivery in the EDC area.   
High delivery levels are likely to be sustained into the future, barring major and unexpected economic 
circumstances, with build on some very large sites set to continue for a number of years into the future.



3

2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17
Housing delivery 
required to 
achieve Core 
Strategy ‘up to 
17,3000’ homes 
(planning phasing)

460 460 460 460 460 1,020 1,020 1,020 1,020 1,020 1,120

Annual average 
local housing need 
requirement, 
based on national 
projection

585 585 585 585 585 585 585 585 585 585 585

Actual delivery 659 603 610 151 362 322 422 602 565 971 1,162
(Annual Indicator – next data due April/May 2018) 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Usage of Borough Council sports facilities                                                                                                        Source: DBC Policy & Corporate Support/PCS1
2015-16 2016-17

                

Park Run 
(average number of runners per week)
Q2                                 131
Q3                                 130
Q4                                 133
Princes Park Mini Pitches 
(users)
Q1                                   62
Q2                                   68
Q3                                   67
Q4                                   62
Fairfield Leisure Centre
Total centre visit, overall 
categories, for February to 
March 2016              49,669

    

              
 

Park Run 
(average number of runners per week)

Q1                                    139
Q2                                    143
Q3                                    162
Q4                                    150
Junior Park Run 
(average number of runners per week)

Q1                                      52
Q2                                      42
Q3                                      19
Q4                                      33
Princes Park Mini Pitches 
(users)

Q1                                      45 
Q2                                      45
Q3                                      31
Q4                                      58
Fairfield
(Total centre visit, overall categories)

Result                        459,270
Q1                             110,848
Q2                             111,335
Q3                             105,104
Q4                             131,983

Princes Park Mini Pitch users for this quarter is slightly up compared to the last quarter due to March 
being 5 weeks and Easter not being until the middle of April.

The usage figures at Fairfield continue to exceed Places for People bid expectations.



4

Number of local groups supported through Community Grant and other grant schemes                            Source: DBC Policy & Corporate Support/PCS2
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15
                Result                    44

                2015-16
                Result                    30

                Result                    34
          

Salute to Youth                   
Result                                   8
Q1                                        0
Q2                                        1
Q3                                        2
Q4                                        5
Community Grant Scheme
Result                                 16
Q1                                        0
Q2                                        0
Q3                                        8
Q4                                        8
DBC Community Fund 
Result                                 10
Q1                                        2
Q2                                        2
Q3                                        3
Q4                                        3

In quarter 4 there were 5 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth Scheme. Another 8 organisations 
were successful in the second round of the Community Grant Scheme 2016-17 and the grant was 
distributed. A further 3 grants were awarded under the DBC Community Fund.

Percentage attendance at the Orchard Theatre (% of total seats available which are used)                         Source: DBC Policy & Corporate Support/PCS3
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15          
                  Result           58.33%
                  2015-16
                  Result           64.42%

                Result             61.33%
                Q1                   55.67% 
                Q2                  54.67%
                Q3                  73.67%
                Q4                  61.33%

The quarter 4 figure of 61.33% is on a par with the same quarter last year (63.33%)

OVERALL BOROUGH INDICATORS
Overall life expectancy gap in the Borough                                                                                                     Source:  Public Health England, Health Profiles/BI5

2010-12 and 2011-13 2012-14
                2010-12
                Male                   7.7

                 Female               6.2
                 2011-13
                 Male                   7.6
                Female               8.3

                Male                        8.0
               Female                    5.9  

Latest available figures for 2012-14 show that life expectancy is 8.0 years lower for men and 5.9 years 
lower for women in the most deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived areas. In Kent overall 
(KCC area) life expectancy is 7.4 years lower for men and 4.4 years lower for women in the most 
deprived areas of Kent than in the least deprived areas. (Annual Indicator – next data due July 2017) 



5

Percentage of obese children in year six                                                                                                        Source: Public Health England, Health Profiles /BI6
2012-13 to 2014-15 2015-16

                 2012-13      
                 Result            22.8%
                 2013-14
                 Result            23.2%
                 2014-15
                 Result            19.6%

               Result                21.1%        Latest available figures for 2015-16 show that 21.1% of children in year six (10-11 year olds) were 
classified as obese in the Borough. This is higher than the previous year where 19.6% of children in 
year six were classified as obese. In Kent overall (KCC area) for 2015-16, the figure is 18.7%. (Annual 
Indicator  - next data due 2018)  

Percentage of adults achieving at least 150 minutes of physical exercise per week                                               Source: Public Health England, Health Profiles /BI7
2012 to 2014 2015

                 2012 
                 Result            52.9%
                 2013 
                 Result            56.6%
                 2014
                 Result            55.8%

                Result                57.8%
Latest available figures for 2015 show that 57.8% of adults were physically active in the Borough. This 
is just below the average for Kent (59%) and just above the average for England (57%). (Annual Indicator 
– next data due 2017)  

SAFER COMMUNITIES
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Total number of arrests instigated by CCTV                                                                                            Source: DBC Enforcement & Regulatory Control/EARPI14
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15    
                Result                  45
                2015-16
                Result                  76

               Result                      72
               Q1                            11
               Q2                            22
               Q3                            22
               Q4                            17

CCTV cover remains in place at key times, with a relatively consistent performance compared to the 
previous two quarters; and comparable to 2015-16.

Total number of arrests supported by CCTV                                                                                           Source: DBC Enforcement & Regulatory Control/EARPI15
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

               2014-15   
               Result                 148
                2015-16
                Result                  51

               Result                       59
               Q1                            10               
               Q2                            15
               Q3                              9 
               Q4                            25

The higher number of arrests supported by CCTV demonstrates the good work of the Town Centre 
Partnership, and work to increase information flow.

Percentage of high risk (categories A & B) food hygiene inspections due and completed                                Source: DBC Environmental Health/EHPI5 
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15
                Target             100%
                Result             100%
                2015-16
                Target             100%
                Result             100%

                Target                    100%
                Result                100%
                Q1                      100%
                Q2                      100%
                Q3                      100%
                Q4                      100%

All high risk inspections that were due were completed in quarter 4. Performance in previous years has 
been consistently met with 100% of inspections due and completed.



6

OVERALL BOROUGH INDICATORS
Total number of crimes committed in the Borough                                                                                      Source: DBC Enforcement & Regulatory Control/BI8

Oct 2013 to Sep 2014 and 
2015-16

2016-17

Oct 2013 to Sep 2014
               Result              8,318
               2015-16
               Result              8,087

                Result               10,098
                Q1                      2,414
                Q2                      2,418
                Q3                      2,635
                Q4                      2,631

The trend in rising crime continues. New counting rules in terms of how crime is recorded, along with the 
increase in data accuracy will account for some of this rise, but the rise in Dartford is higher than the 
average for the County.

Number of criminal damage offences in the Borough                                                                                  Source: DBC Enforcement & Regulatory Control/BI9
Oct 2013 to Sep 2014 and 

2015-16
2016-17

Oct 2013 to Sep 2014   
               Result              1,197
               2015-16
               Result              1,237

                Result                 1,652
                Q1                         403           
                Q2                         391
                Q3                         499
                Q4                         359

Although there has been a reduction on last quarter, the trend in rising criminal damage continues. 
New counting rules in terms of how crime is recorded, along with the increase in data accuracy will 
account for some of this rise. The rising trend has been identified within the Community Safety 
Partnership’s Strategic Assessment resulting in criminal damage being made a priority. 

Number of recorded anti-social behaviour incidents in the Borough                                                        Source: DBC Enforcement & Regulatory Control/BI10
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15
                Result             2,735
                2015-16                         
                Result             2,747

                Result                 2,982
                Q1                         709           
                Q2                         946
                Q3                         689
                Q4                         638

Quarter 4 of 2015-16 saw 601 reports of anti-social behaviour. Whilst this is more stable than other 
indicators the rise in anti-social behaviour reports in relation to the use of vehicle remains a contributory 
factor.

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Percentage of household waste recycled or composted                                                                                              Source: DBC Waste & Parks/WRPI3
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15
                Target               30%
                Result          27.46%
                2015-16
                Target               30%
                Result          25.38%

                Target                  30%
                  
                Q1                     26.5% 
                Q2                   25.98%
                Q3                   25.77%
                Q4             25.5% (est)

Overall performance is down because of reduced levels of recycling, increased quantities of general 
waste and increased rejections at the Materials Recycling Facility, but is on a par to last year.



7

Number of households participating in the green bin service                                                                                      Source: DBC Waste & Parks/WRPI4
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15
                Target             4,500
                Result             5,366
                2015-16
                Target             6,000  
                Result             5,817

                Target                 6,000
                Result                 6,298

                Q1                      5,989
                Q2                      6,206
                Q3                      6,242
                Q4                      6,298

The target has been met for this year. The longer term aim is to reach 7 to 8,000 over time. 

Number of fly tipping incidents                                                                                                                                        Source: DBC Waste & Parks/WRPI7
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15
                Target                120 
                Result                104
                2015-16
                Target                 120
                Result                  89

                Target                      120
                Result                    159
              
                Q1                           59
                Q2                           59
                Q3                           21
                Q4                           20

Large scale fly tipping has decreased but the dumping of household items continues at a high level.

Number of graffiti incidents                                                                                                                                              Source: DBC Waste & Parks/WRPI8
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15
                Target                120 
                Result                  35
                2015-16
                Target                120
                Result                  45        

                Target                     120
                Result                       59
                
                Q1                           10
                Q2                            9
                Q3                           18
                Q4                           22

The amount of graffiti in the Borough remains low.

Number of households taking part in energy efficiency initiatives in the Borough                                                 Source: DBC Housing Services/HPI43
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15
                Result                841
                2015-16
                Result                653

                Result                    571
                Q1                           64   
                Q2                           21
                Q3                           21
                Q4                         465

The data included in this performance indicator is gathered from a number of different sources relating 
to different projects and programmes and is proving difficult to collect. The end of year position is lower 
than that of 2015-16 but this is largely due to easy measures being completed in earlier years and the 
completion of the government funded Warmer Streets programme which increased numbers 
significantly for the life of the programme. 



8

HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Percentage of emergency repairs completed on time                                                                                                   Source: DBC Housing Services/HPI5
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

               2014-15
               Target              100%
               Result              100%
               2015-16
               Target              100%
               Result           99.88%

                Target                 100%
                Result              98.87%

                Q1                      100%
                Q2                   99.21%
                Q3                   98.97%
                Q4                   97.46%

This performance indicator is marginally below target. The cumulative total rate for 2016-17 is 98.87% 
and relates to call outs that we attended but not within the 2 hour target time.

Percentage of urgent repairs completed on time                                                                                                          Source: DBC Housing Services/HPI6        
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

               2014-15
               Target                98%
               Result           95.49%
               2015-16
               Target                98%
               Result           95.42%

                Target                  98%
                Result             94.28%

                Q1                   94.95%
                Q2                   93.59%
                Q3                   92.11%
                Q4                   96.28% 
 

This performance indicator is slightly below target. The cumulative total rate for 2016-17 is 94.28%. 
However this is to be expected and is resultant on the concentration in improving the performance of 
non-urgent repairs and the contractor apportioning its finite resources to meet the Councils priorities.

Percentage on non-urgent repairs completed on time                                                                                                  Source:  DBC Housing Services/HPI7
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15
                Target              98%
                Result          90.37%
                2015-16
                Target              98%
                Result          91.91%

                Target                  98%
                Result              86.42%

                Q1                   80.94%            
                Q2                   87.50%
                Q3                   85.92%
                Q4                   93.23%

The cumulative total rate for 2016-17 is 86.42% The management action plan previously mentioned is 
still in place and has improved the performance in this area as discussed at Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee in April 2016. This has meant that the contractor has targeted resources at the oldest jobs 
first in order to catch up and put the performance indicator back on target. This inevitably means that the 
performance indicator takes a short term hit as the oldest jobs get completed and recorded on the 
system. Although the quarter 1 performance is just under 81%, later quarter performance indicates that 
the action plan and management corrections are working and should continue to improve moving 
forward.

Average time taken to re-let local authority housing                                                                                                    Source: DBC Housing Services/HPI8                                                                            
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15
                Target                  21
                Result             20.60
                2015-16
                Target                  21
                Result             19.45

                Target                     20
                Result                 20.41

                Q1                      19.94        
                Q2                      20.77
                Q3                      20.84
                Q4                      19.92

The average time (in days) taken to re-let local authority housing achieved target in 2015-16. The 
target was met in quarter 1 and quarter 4 but just missed in quarter 2 and quarter 3. YTD figure is 
20.41.



9

OVERALL BOROUGH INDICATORS
Number of new homes completed                                                                                                                                            Source: DBC Planning/BI11

2013-14 and 2014-15 2016-17
                 2013-14
                 Result                 602
                2014-15

                 Result                 565
                 2015-16
                 Result                 971

                  Result                1,162           
Refer to page 2 and ‘Number of new homes built’ indicator for commentary.

Number of affordable homes completed                                                                                                                         Source: DBC Housing Services/BI12
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15
                Target                100
                Result                151
                2015-16
                Target                    100
                Result                103

                Target                   125
                Result                   239
                Q1                           14            
                Q2                           51
                Q3                             0
                Q4                         174

This performance indicator is well above the annual target at 239. The zero figure reported in quarter 3 
is part caused by a quirk in timing in terms of units completed by developers (which is outside of DBC’s 
direct control) and partly due to the fact that not all the completion returns were received before this 
report was finalised. 

Number of private sector dwellings returned to occupation                                                                                        Source: DBC Housing Services/BI13
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15
                Target                100
                Result                  96
                2015-16
                Target                115
                Result                100

                Target                    100
                Result                    101
                           

                Q1                           33 
                Q2                           27
                Q3                           13
                Q4                           28

Target has been achieved.

COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Percentage of Council Tax collected                                                                                                                           Source: DBC Revenues & Benefits/PS3
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15
                Target            96.9%
                Result            97.1%
                2015-16
                Target            96.8%
                Result            97.3%

       Target                           97.2%
       Result (provisional)             97.1%                 
       Jun Target                    29.8%       
       Jun Result                    29.6% 
       Sep Target                   57.4%
       Sep Result                   57.2% 
       Dec Target                   85.0%
       Dec Result                   84.6%
       Mar Target                   97.2%
       Mar Result (provisional)   97.1%
            

It should be noted that the in-year collection rate stated is provisional and subject to the usual year end 
checks and balances. 

Although the annual target has been missed by 0.1%, the total amount collected compared to 2015-16 
has increased by £3.15million. This increase in revenue has a direct link to the rising number of 
properties being built in the Borough and becoming liable for Council Tax.  



10

Percentage of Non Domestic Rates collected                                                                                                             Source: DBC Revenues & Benefits/PS4
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

               2014-15
               Target                98%
               Result             97.9%
               2015-16
               Target             98.5%
               Result             98.8%

        Target                          98.8%
        Result (provisional)          98.9%
        Jun Target                   31.3%
        Jun Result                   30.4%
        Sep Target                  57.2%
        Sep Result                  56.7%
        Dec Target                  81.8%
        Dec Result                  83.8%
        Mar Target                  98.8%
        Mar Result (provisional)  98.9%

It should be noted that the in-year collection rate stated is provisional and subject to the usual year end 
checks and balances. 

In-year collection target exceeded by 0.1%. The level of NDR collection remains consistently high year-
on-year and this provides reassurance that billing, recovery and enforcement procedures are operating 
efficiently and effectively.  

Average time (working days) to process a new Housing Benefit Claim                                                                Source: DBC Revenues & Benefits/RBPI1
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

               2014-15
               Target                   27
               Result              26.33
               2015-16
               Target                   25
               Result              25.67

                 Target                    23
                 Result                    30
                 Q1                          26 
                 Q2                          31
                 Q3                          34
                 Q4                          30

The improvement in quarter 4 correlates with an upturn in staff attendance, the addition of two agency staff and, 
more significantly, the introduction of Risk Based Verification (RBV) software. Whilst the annual target for 2016-17 
has been missed there is a high degree of confidence that RBV will continue to contribute to a significant 
improvement in performance in 2017-18 (The average processing time for March has reduced down further to an 
average of 26 days).   

Average number of DBC working days lost because of short term sickness per employee                                   Source: DBC Human Resources/FPI5 
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

              2014-15
              Target                   4.5                                       
              Result                 2.98
              2015-16      
              Target                   5.0
              Result                 5.02

                Target                     4.5
                Result                   4.39
                Q1                        1.00       
                Q2                        0.67
                Q3                        1.53
                Q4                        1.19

Higher level of short term sickness absence in quarter 4 as expected due to seasonal bugs. Overall 
short term sickness absence per employee (FTE) for 2016-17 is below target.

Average number of DBC working days lost because of long term sickness per employee                                     Source: DBC Human Resources/FPI6
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

               2014-15
               Target                    2
               Result               4.14
               2015-16

                Target                 4.0 
                Result                3.21

                 Target                         3
                 Result                    2.38              
                 Q1                         0.58
                 Q2                         0.54
                 Q3                         0.79
                 Q4                         0.47

Overall long term sickness absence per employee (FTE) for 2016-17 is below target.



11

Percentage of supplier payments made within 30 days of receipt of invoice                                                                       Source: DBC Finance/FPI8                                                                              
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

               2014-15
               Target           99.50%
               Result           99.21%
               2015-16
               Target           99.50%
               Result           99.03%

                Target               99.50%
                Result              99.02%
                Q1                   99.17%
                Q2                   98.77%
                Q3                   99.50%
                Q4                   98.58%

Good overall performance. Some difficulties in March due to an IT system issue preventing access to 
the approvals system for some shared service staff. A work around was arranged but the issue did 
impact on approval timescales.

Rent collected as a proportion of rent due                                                                                                                     Source: DBC Housing Services/HPI1
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

              2014-15
              Target              98.1%
              Result            97.57%
              2015-16
              Target              98.1%                    
              Result            97.67%

                Target               98.1%   
                Result              97.67%           
                Q1                   91.96%
                Q2                   95.54%
                Q3                   97.34%
                Q4                   97.67%

This performance indicator has almost met target despite the significant challenges and should be seen 
as very positive in the context of the welfare reform changes and the current economic climate. In 
2015-16, 97.67% of rent was collected and exactly the same amount was collected in 2016-17. 
However the slight delay in HB payments between sign up of tenancy and reaching the rent account 
will likely result in that performance being further improved once the end of year process has been 
completed.  

Number of visits to DBC website                                                                                                                                                  Source:  DBC ICT/ITPI24
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

              2014-15
              Result           664,701
              2015-16
              Result           809,383

                Result              821,974        

                Q1                   230,074
                Q2                   233,443
                Q3                   173,512 
                Q4                   184,945

The number of visits to the DBC website in quarter 4 is similar to the same period last year and the 
annual visits for 2016-17 is similar to last year. 

Percentage of customer service telephone calls answered within 20 seconds                                                       Source: DBC Customer Services/CSP1                                                                                                                   
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

              2014-15
              Target            71.25%
              Result            65.36%
              2015-16
              Target                 65%
              Result            69.29%

                Target                   65%
                Result                56.41%                
                Q1                      40.3% 
                Q2                      57.3%
                Q3                     66.87%
                Q4                     61.17%

The final quarter of 2016-17 has seen a slight decline from 66.87% to 61.17% of calls handled being 
answered within 20 seconds. This will be due to the fall in the service level in March. The reason for 
this is, in part, due to an increase in call volume across the majority of services but particularly benefits. 
Despite the change seen last quarter with the reorganisation of available resource, there were at times 
fewer available staff due to leave being taken before the financial year end. The volume of calls offered 
had also increased substantially in March, leading to a higher than normal abandoned rate. 





CABINET
25 MAY 2017

MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 21 MARCH 2017

1. Summary

To present to Cabinet the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview 
Committee held on 21 March 2017.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 
21 March 2017, be considered and noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Managing Director, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and 
the Chairman of Policy Overview Committee, has agreed that the most 
appropriate way for the Policy Overview Committee to report its work to 
Cabinet would be for the cleared minutes from each Committee meeting to 
be submitted to the next appropriate Cabinet meeting.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To be an inclusive, well led and managed organisation, with an open and 
positive culture, making the best use of its resources, and recognising the vital 
contribution of all members and staff.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Policy Overview Committee minutes of 21 March 2017

DOCUMENTS CONSULTED

Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

A Stoneham
01322 343330

Member Services
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A





APPENDIX A

1

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 21 
March 2017 at 7.00 pm.

PRESENT: Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor R M Currans
Councillor B Garden
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor J Jones
Councillor B K Kaini
Councillor M B Kelly
Councillor R Lees
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor T A Maddison (substitute for Councillor D Page)
Councillor D J Reynolds (substitute for Councillor S H Brown)
Councillor Mrs R F Storey

ABSENT: Councillor S H Brown
Councillor D Page
Councillor A Sandhu, MBE
Councillor R J Wells

ALSO 
PRESENT:

Susan Acott – Chief Executive, Dartford & Gravesham 
NHS Trust

Mike Gilbert – Company Secretary and Assistant 
Accountable Officer, NHS Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Patricia Chapman – Dartford Borough Residents Forum

Dartford Borough Council Officers

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External Services)

40. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors S H Brown, D Page, A 
Sandhu, MBE and R J Wells.

41. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of prejudicial or pecuniary interest.
 
However, Councillor M B Kelly asked that the fact that she is employed by 
Darent Valley Hospital be recorded, and Councillors T A Maddison and R M 
Currans also wished it to be recorded that they are members of their local GP 
Patient Participation Groups.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 21 MARCH 2017

2

42. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 13 DECEMBER 2016 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 13 
December 2016 be confirmed.

43. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

44. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees.

45. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice, for the period 15 February 2017 
to 30 June 2017, be noted.

46. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 13 DECEMBER 2016 

This report asked Members to note the list of action points arising from the 
Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 13 December 2016.

The Chairman referred to the letter that had been received from NHS England 
and expressed disappointment at its failure to respond to the specific points 
that had been highlighted in the letter that he had sent on behalf of the 
Committee. He said that further consideration of the letter would take place 
during consideration of the health service related items on the agenda.

The Chairman drew Members’ attention to the Appendix which described the 
status of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, and the associated lack of 
detailed regulations, and asked that it be re-added as a provisional item for 
consideration at the Committee’s September 2017 meeting. Members also 
noted that the Government was consulting on a related White Paper and 
suggested that it might be useful if they were able to contribute towards the 
response being developed. The Strategic Director (External Services) advised 
that the Government had specified a timetable for responses and that the 
Council’s proposed submission had not been ready in time for consideration 
by the Policy Overview Committee, but would be put forward for consideration 
at the Cabinet Advisory Panel and Cabinet meetings in April. She also noted 
how the Government had already dropped some of their original proposals 
and said that the White Paper might be used to inform the Government’s 
thinking and influence how the Act’s associated regulations are drafted. 
During further discussion it was confirmed that Members may attend either 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 21 MARCH 2017

3

Cabinet Advisory Panel meeting and speak with the Chairman’s permission if 
they have an interest in a particular item on the agenda, and that they were 
also able to submit their own independent response to the White Paper 
consultation if they so wished.

RESOLVED:

1. That the list of action points arising from the Committee meetings held 
on 13 December 2016 be noted.

2. That consideration of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 be 
provisionally scheduled for September 2017.

47. DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM NHS TRUST AND DARTFORD 
GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 

The Chairman welcomed Susan Acott, Chief Executive Dartford & Gravesham 
NHS Trust, and Mike Gilbert, Company Secretary & Assistant Accountable 
Officer for NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group (DGS CCG), to the meeting and advised that it had been decided to 
consider items 7, Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust, and 8, Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group, together because of 
the overlapping health related responsibilities of both organisations.

Mr Gilbert then gave a presentation and began by giving an overview of what 
he described as a very challenging year with a number of notable successes. 
He then referred to the financial challenges that were being faced and the 
impact that population growth in Dartford and Gravesham was having. He 
also noted how developments in neighbouring Boroughs such as Bexley were 
putting additional pressures on the health services provided by Darent Valley 
Hospital. He then described how this winter had been particularly difficult even 
though the weather had not been that severe. He then advised that, since 
April 2016, the CCG had taken over responsibility for the commissioning of 
GP services from NHS England and said that it had been a steep learning 
curve. He also noted the need to improve and sustain those areas of primary 
care and GP provision that were considered to be fragile. He then referred to 
the successful development of new models of care which had GPs working 
together with primary care teams. He then advised of the potential 
development of a Health and Care Centre of Excellence in the Ebbsfleet 
Garden City area and described how this could provide exciting opportunities 
for research and learning and act to encourage those who wish to pursue a 
health related career to live and work in the area.

Mr Gilbert then moved on to growth and financial performance and said that 
the current CCG population was 263,000. He noted how this figure had 
already grown from 250,000 in 2013, and that a further 57,000 growth had 
been predicted over the next 15 years. He then referred to the impact that this 
was having on GP practices who were, on average, experiencing a 2% growth 
in the number of patients on their books per annum since 2014/15. He then 
noted the excellent relationship that the CCG had with Dartford Borough 
Council, Ebbsfleet Development Corporation, and other partners enabling 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 21 MARCH 2017

4

them to monitor the impact of growth and develop new local models of care, 
based on extended community services. He then described how the CCG 
budget was set at £344 million for 2016/17 and would grow by 1% per annum, 
but also warned that, with the population predicted to grow at 2% per annum 
(with a 1% growth having an extra £3.4 million impact on associated costs), 
further pressures would be placed on the available budget in future years. He 
then described how the CCG had performed in previous years and said that in 
2013/14 and 2014/15 there had been a surplus, in 2015/16 there had been a 
deficit of £1.2 million, and in 2016/17 the impact of growth meant that the 
deficit was forecast to be £17 million, even though £13 million of efficiency 
savings had been achieved over the past 2 years. He said that the impact of 
growth and historic underfunding was significantly affecting CCG 
performance.

Mr Gilbert then referred to the response that the Committee had received from 
NHS England. He agreed with the Committee that the response was 
disappointing because NHS England were fully aware of the challenges being 
faced in the area and they had acknowledged that DGS CCG was 
underfunded when compared with other CCGs. He then noted how a paper 
had been submitted to NHS England’s National Allocations Panel setting out 
the CCG’s case for additional funding in 2017/18 and said that Sevenoaks MP 
Michael Fallon had written to the Secretary of State for Health, Jeremy Hunt, 
highlighting the financial problems being experienced by the CCG. Despite 
this he said that they would continue to strive to live within their means and 
continue to look at areas where efficiency savings can be made.

Mr Gilbert then displayed the table which had been submitted as part of the 
paper which had been sent to the National Allocations Panel which showed 
how, even with a 1% yearly allocation increase, the CCG would be 
experiencing a shortfall of £42 million by 2020/21.

Mr Gilbert then referred to Sustainability and Transformation Planning (STP) 
and said that it described the strategic directions being taken. He noted how 
the CCG was involved in all key areas of the Kent and Medway STP and said 
that a North and West Kent Delivery Group had been established to co-
ordinate the work, which included the defining of an acute clinical strategy and 
the co-ordination of extended local delivery models. He then highlighted the 
clinical models of care being proposed for the Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley area and referred to the creation of hubs, which would bring GP 
practices together and allow for improvements in efficiency and the creation of 
a stronger more flexible workforce. He said that the hub and spoke model 
would enable services related to primary care, prevention, healthy wellbeing, 
and those provided by voluntary organisations, to be integrated. He noted 
how hubs had been proposed for Dartford, Gravesend and Swanley town 
centres and possibly Ebbsfleet and referred to the need to work with partners 
and engage with the public as plans are progressed. He then highlighted the 
need for capital funding in order that the proposed hubs may be delivered and 
noted that £2.9 million had been made available by NHS England, as a major 
contribution to the capital development as well as to enable a feasibility study 
to be carried out and an associated business case to be prepared. He also 
hoped that Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and s106 funding would also 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 21 MARCH 2017

5

be made available to enable the hubs to be delivered. He also noted the 
commissioning process benefits that this structure would deliver.

Mr Gilbert then gave an update on the status of the 7 year £127 million adult 
community services contract that had been awarded to Virgin Healthcare and 
advised that it had started in September 2016 and that the legal challenge 
that had been made had been successfully defended. He said that the 
contract covered Swale CCG as well and provided community services, 
rehabilitation and community hospital services etc. He said that the contract 
had now been running for 6 months and that, following initial teething 
problems, benefits were now being seen. He then made particular reference 
to the fact that the recruitment and retention of staff had improved and that 
there had been a reduction in some historic specialist waiting lists. He then 
advised that although there had been initial reservations the ‘Friends and 
Family’ survey outcomes were seen to be encouraging. He also noted how 
the services being provided linked in to service redesign work being carried 
out both locally and at STP level.

Mr Gilbert then described the pressures that had been experienced over the 
winter and said that, although the weather had not been particularly cold or 
bad, acute hospital providers had found it difficult. He noted how full Darent 
Valley Hospital had been over the Christmas period and the problems that this 
had created in the New Year. He said that Darent Valley Hospital had 
struggled to achieve its historically good A&E waiting time targets and that its 
occupancy levels had continuously been recorded at over 98%. He welcomed 
the extra funding that the Government was making available for social care, 
which he said would equate to £26 million for Kent, as this would help address 
the major difficulties associated with delayed discharges and availability of 
packages of care (domiciliary care). He said that Darent Valley Hospital 
regularly had three wards worth of patients medically fit for discharge. He also 
referred to the impact that the shortage of domiciliary care workers was 
having on discharge rates and said that low wages and the use of zero hour 
contracts meant that people were looking to different forms of employment, 
which would enable them to earn the same money doing a job with less 
responsibility. He said that KCC were fully aware of the associated impacts 
and exploring ways to address the shortfall.

Mr Gilbert ended his presentation by referring to some successes and noted 
the good patient and public engagement that was being achieved. He also 
noted the positive satisfaction results that had been received in response to 
recently carried out NHS staff survey. He noted how the CCG employed 68 
people and had strong relationships with stakeholders and partners. He 
referred to the excellent improvements that had been made in diabetes 
education and control and described how a specialist nurse pilot was being 
progressed to full procurement. He then highlighted medicines as an area 
where there is significant spending and noted the steps that were being taken 
to address poly pharmacy, which can actually have a negative impact on 
overall health. He said that by reviewing a patient’s overall medicinal 
requirements, with the aim of reducing the number of medicines being 
administered, outcomes can be improved and budgetary savings made. He 
also advised of the progress that had been made in respect to digital 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 21 MARCH 2017

6

technology and said that they were leading the way. He said that patient 
records were being made available to health professionals on laptops and 
tablets enabling better care to be provided. He then reassured Members that 
a patient’s data would be kept safe and that, if they were conscious, they 
would always be asked for permission before access was made to their 
records.

The Chairman thanked Mr Gilbert for his presentation and referred to the 
issue of bed blocking and the difficulties being experiences when trying to 
create care packages which would enable patients to be discharged. He 
noted how part of Priory Mews Care Home was being used to  accommodate 
people who no longer needed an acute care bed and asked whether other 
solutions were being explored. He also noted the problems that had been 
highlighted with domiciliary care and the levels of pay for performing this role 
and asked whether it would be useful for the Committee to raise this as an 
issue with NHS England. Mrs Acott confirmed that part of Priory Mews was 
still being run and staffed by Darent Valley Hospital and was successfully 
being used to rehabilitate patients prior to their discharge, although she did 
also warn that the funding to continue with this could be put at risk if budgets 
are stretched further. With respect to other ways of addressing bed blocking 
Mrs Acott suggested that more could be done to prevent people becoming ill 
or injuring themselves as they grow older, or by providing the required 
resources to enable more people to receive hospital care at home where 
practical. She also agreed with the concerns that had been raised in relation 
to the amounts being paid to those providing domiciliary care and agreed that 
the role was worth more and the service was currently understaffed. She said 
that the option of delivering this service through the Trust might enable better 
contracts to be created with pension rights and travel expenses included, 
which would make the role more attractive to potential applicants and lead to 
an increase in the number of staff available to provide the home care support 
required by those who are ready to be discharged from hospital.

The Chairman referred to the budgetary pressures that had been raised and 
the deficits that had been predicted and asked whether NHS England should 
again be made aware of the Council’s concern at the impact that new 
development and the potential construction of a theme park could have on the 
CCG’s ability to fund required health service provision. He noted that 
increases to the budget had already been fixed at 1% for the next 2 years and 
asked how the CCG was expected to cope with the situation. Mr Gilbert 
replied that all contingencies had been used by the CCG in the current year 
and commented that many organisations within the NHS were facing similar 
financial challenges.  He also noted the pressures being felt by those who 
deliver the services and the need for them all to work together to find ways of 
dealing with the funding gap. With reference to the proposed theme park Mr 
Gilbert confirmed that no additional funding would be made available to the 
CCG through national allocations, even though 40,000 visitors per day was 
being predicted, some of which would need health related support. He also 
referred to the workforce that would be located in the area during the theme 
park’s construction.  Mr Gilbert highlighted as an example the increased 
pressure that had reportedly been placed on those providing GP, alcohol and 
sexual health related services during construction of the Channel Tunnel. He 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 21 MARCH 2017

7

then confirmed that the CCG would continue to lobby hard for more funding 
and said that others willing to lobby on their behalf would be welcomed.

The Chairman said that he had been heartened by the intention to expand the 
diabetes related pilot and hoped that plans to address the associated problem 
of obesity would also be put in place. Mr Gilbert confirmed that the childhood 
obesity level in Dartford was one of the highest in Kent and noted its 
correlation to diabetes and heart disease. He then advised that they were 
working with Public Health and Health and Wellbeing Boards, and also 
providing advice to those planning new developments, to promote the delivery 
of lifestyle changes by encouraging people to walk and exercise more.

Reference was then made to the recently considered planning application for 
the Lowfield Street development and the fact that the associated report had 
stated that some GP surgeries had had to close their books to new patients. It 
was suggested that health bodies should voice their opposition when 
responding to major development proposals if they feel that there would be 
insufficient health service capacity to support the resulting increase in 
population. Mr Gilbert agreed that as pressures on available health resources 
continued to increase the CCG may eventually have to voice its opposition to 
future developments. With reference to GP surgeries in the Lowfield Street 
area he said that, although some may have had to close their books 
temporarily, he was not aware of any that were currently closed.  He advised 
that if a surgery closes its books for longer than a week they then have to 
inform the CCG.

Members also noted how other projects would be looking to use CIL funding 
to deliver infrastructural improvements in areas such as transport and 
education and asked whether the delivery of a hub in Dartford was dependent 
on CIL funding being made available. Mr Gilbert said that delivery was 
dependent on the receipt of some CIL related funding and that associated 
discussions were being held with the Strategic Director (External Services) 
and the Managing Director. He also noted how the facility used to house the 
hub may also be used to provide non-health related services. He then said 
that an alternative, less attractive, approach may be to work with a private 
investor and lease the facility following its construction.

Members then referred to the draft STP that had been published, and the fact 
that it referred to a 2 tier structure with more than one hub being required for 
the Dartford area, and asked whether the single hub proposed for Dartford 
town centre was going to be sufficient, and able to provide the level of service 
required by local residents. Mr Gilbert confirmed that the draft STP had 
specified that 5 hubs be created for the DSG area, 2 in Dartford, 2 in 
Gravesham and 1 in Swanley, but said that there were affordability issues and 
that the chosen option had to be seen as viable. He noted how the services 
provided by Darent Valley Hospital would complement those provided by a 
hub and noted that the siting of a hub in the Ebbsfleet area was also being 
considered. He then outlined the benefits that could be delivered by the 
combining of GP practices, some of which were currently considered to be 
vulnerable, into a town centre hub. He also noted how a hub would not just 
provide access to a GP but could also be used to provide drop-in services, 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 21 MARCH 2017

8

social activities (e.g. yoga or pilates), physio and mental health support. He 
also said that, as the hub was a place where people gathered, it could also be 
used to promote preventative health related initiatives that encourage people 
to live well and healthily as they grow up.

Members then highlighted the problems being caused by the nationwide 
shortage of doctors and nursing staff and asked whether Brexit was likely to 
have a further impact and whether plans were being put in place to address 
the shortage. Mrs Acott confirmed that staffing was a key challenge and 
agreed that more should be done to increase the numbers of people being 
trained as there was currently no sign of an increase in throughput. She also 
noted how Brexit had exposed further vulnerabilities and said that the 300 
European staff employed by Darent Valley Hospital were now worried about 
what was planned for the future. She also noted how the United Kingdom was 
now being seen as less welcoming and attractive to those from outside the 
country who may have been considering joining the country’s health 
workforce. She said that she had met with her staff and had made them 
aware that they had the full support of the hospital and said she would 
advocate for them at every opportunity. She then noted how Darent Valley 
Hospital worked in partnership with Guys and St Thomas’ hospitals to share 
skilled resources, which enabled specialist services to be provided at more 
locations.

With respect to the restructure of services and the plans to integrate health 
and social care Members referred to the socio-economy and the challenge of 
addressing the differing requirements of a diverse population. Mr Gilbert 
replied that he was proud of the area’s rich cultural and diverse demographic 
population and referred to local needs assessments that are carried out to 
ensure that required services are being provided. He also noted how the 
types of health service being accessed by those moving into new 
developments was being monitored to gauge who was moving into the area 
(e.g. are they young or old), and described how this data could be used to 
influence where service enhancements should be targeted.

In response to a question relating to the CCG budget Mr Gilbert explained 
how the CCG’s allocation was split into 2 parts. The larger part (which was 
£306 million for 2016/17) was used to fund the provision of all services apart 
from GPs and was increased annually at a rate that was set 2 to 5 years in 
advance. The remainder, which brought the figure up to £344 million for 
2016/17, was used to fund GP primary care and was reassessed quarterly 
(based on the number of GP patients that are registered in the area). He then 
noted how the current population related funding pressures could be 
addressed by the implementation of a similarly regular reassessment, based 
on population, for the larger allocation.

Members also referred to the increased deficit that was being forecast for 
2016/17 and were advised by Mr Gilbert that the CCG had been hit by the 
need to increase spending on funded nursing care and other unplanned 
issues during the first half of the year. He also noted that, whereas it had 
previously been possible to cover these unexpected issues using flexibilities 
such as contingency and headroom, now that the budget had tightened due to 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 21 MARCH 2017

9

the demands being put on it by the rapidly increasing population, there was 
less scope for flexibility.

Members welcomed the proposed creation of a hub in Dartford but asked, 
given the GP shortage, how the doctors required to staff it would be found. Mr 
Gilbert acknowledged that it is often the case that no responses are received 
when advertising for a GP, and that small independent practices with few GPs 
experience serious problems if one of their GPs becomes ill. He then 
described how practices that join together as a group, which would be the 
situation for those working at a hub, are able to maintain a more flexible 
service. He gave the Fleet Health Campus in Gravesend as an example and 
said that they were now able to offer a more sustainable service for patients, 
and an improved work/life balance for their GPs, which made it more 
attractive to those looking to be employed as a GP.

It was also asked whether it would be beneficial to provide facilities to enable 
patients to stay overnight at a hub. Mr Gilbert replied that it was always better 
for a patient to return home, as long as the required support was in place to 
facilitate this. He also noted how there was an increased risk when patients 
are allocated a community bed (in locations such as the Livingstone 
Community Hospital, Priory Mews Care Home or Gravesend Community 
Hospital) and stay in them for some time, that they then find it more difficult to 
go home.

Members also referred to the way that services, such as the care of people at 
home, are contracted out to the private sector and asked why the NHS itself 
was not able to provide the same service for less cost. Mrs Acott noted that it 
was Kent County Council’s strategy to commission services from outside 
contractors but thought that state funded provision should also be considered. 
She also referred to the lack of support available for those with dementia and 
said that because they cannot be cared for at home, or be given a community 
bed, they ended up remaining in Darent Valley Hospital. She therefore 
thought that the NHS should consider ways of delivering home support for 
those living with dementia by making itself the provider. She then noted how 
Darent Valley Hospital was providing a ‘hospital at home’ service to 20 to 30 
people and said that, although this might not be the cheapest option, it was 
proving valuable for the patient to be at home, and that they were therefore 
looking to expand the service.

One Councillor noted how she had recently attended a walk-in facility in 
Gravesend and had been seen almost immediately and asked whether more 
could be done to publicise the services being offered by such establishments 
to encourage their use. Mrs Acott advised that this was a known issue and 
said that doubts over opening times, differences between the facilities 
available at each site, and the fact that a doctor may not be readily available 
meant that people preferred to go to A&E where staff had the facilities and 
experience to address all possible conditions. She also noted how Darent 
Valley Hospital staff act to make people aware of alternatives if the treatment 
required by a patient could readily be provided by a walk-in centre. Mr Gilbert 
confirmed that although people know what to expect from their GP or A&E 
their insight into the services that are provided by other types of health centre 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 21 MARCH 2017

10

was limited. He admitted that there was a need to raise their profile and make 
the options available at each site clearer, and to also find ways of 
encouraging patients to use these facilities.

Having noted the shared concerns that had been expressed during the debate 
the Chairman proposed that another letter be prepared, which would be sent 
on behalf of the Committee, highlighting the additional issues that had been 
raised during the debate. He noted how this would include the suggested 
quarterly reassessment of the funding provided to deliver all the non-GP 
related services, the concerns expressed in relation to domiciliary care, and 
the need to consider and provide funding to compensate for the impact that 
the construction and running of the proposed Paramount theme park will have 
on health services. Mrs Acott said that the letter should emphasise that, due 
to the development of the Garden City at Ebbsfleet, NHS England should 
consider the area to be a special case, and that funding should be tailored to 
keep pace with population growth so that the health needs of the age groups 
moving into the area may be addressed.

The Chairman thanked Mr Gilbert and Mrs Acott for attending and asked that 
the Committee’s appreciation also be passed to their teams for the good work 
that was being delivered for the area.

RESOLVED:

1. That Mrs Acott and Mr Gilbert be thanked for attending the meeting 
and responding to Members’ questions.

2. That the information provided by Mrs Acott and Mr Gilbert be noted.

3. That a letter responding to NHS England’s recently received letter, 
highlighting the additional issues raised during consideration of this 
item, be prepared and sent.

4. That Mrs Acott and Mr Gilbert be invited back to provide a further 
update to the Committee at their March 2018 meeting.

48. CORPORATE PLAN - PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

This report provided the latest set of Corporate Plan performance indicators 
for quarter 3 of 2016-17.

The Chairman noted that the report had already been considered by the 
Cabinet Advisory Panel and Cabinet and advised that no specific issues had 
been raised in advance of the meeting.

Reference was made to the procedure that is followed when performance 
indicators are defined and whether it was possible for the Policy Overview 
Committee to contribute to this process. The Chairman described how 
senior managers and other Committees were tasked with overall 
performance indicator review and agreement, but also noted how it was 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 21 MARCH 2017

11

possible for the Policy Overview Committee to suggest changes, as had 
previously happened for a waste related performance indicator.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, attached 
at Appendix A to the report, be noted.

49. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 

This report set out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan.

The Chairman confirmed the following additions, which had been agreed 
during discussion of previous agenda items:
 

 Housing and Planning Act 2016 – September 2016 (provisionally)
 Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust - March 2018
 Dartford Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group – 

March 2018

Reference was then made to the debate on homelessness that had taken 
place at the last meeting of the General Assembly of the Council, and the 
intention to establish a Homelessness Working Group, and it was suggested 
that the Policy Overview Committee should also consider homelessness and 
the influence it might have on housing related policies. The Chairman 
expressed concern over the possible duplication of effort that this might cause 
and asked that clarification on the membership and aims of the Working 
Group be sought from officers and distributed to all Committee members.

It was also noted that air quality had been raised as an area of current 
concern at the General Assembly of the Council where reference had been 
made to an ‘Improving Air Quality Joint Inquiry’ that was being carried out by 
the Government. The Chairman noted how air quality had previously been 
considered by the Policy Overview Committee and asked that it be added as 
an item for consideration at the Committee’s September 2017 meeting.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Work Plan, together with the minuted additions above, be 
noted.

2. That the membership and aims of the Homelessness Working Group 
be distributed to all members of the Committee.

The meeting closed at 9.11 pm

Councillor E J Lampkin
CHAIRMAN




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 13 April 2017
	7 Response to Consultation on Proposals Regarding the Penalties for Environmental Offences
	DEFRA Consultation Response APPENDIX A

	8 Consultation on Application to Vary Condition 3 on the Outline Planning Permission at Eastern Quarry to allow a Change to the Parameter Plans and the Land Use Disposition
	9 Rail Consultations and Future Infrastructure
	Rail Consultations APPENDIX A
	Rail Consultations APPENDIX B

	10 Corporate Plan - Performance Indicators
	Performance Indicators APPENDIX A

	11 Minutes of the Policy Overview Meeting held on 21 March 2017
	PO Minutes APPENDIX A


